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AAT plays a key role in enabling 
individuals and businesses to 
reach their full potential. 

Our vision, guided by our values, is to ensure that 
AAT reaches the heart of businesses by leading in the 
development of practical financial skills. We are customer 
focused, we collaborate, we care about what we do and 
how we do it. We take pride in our work and the fact that 
we strive to behave in an authentic and honest way. 

To see how our members contribute to our future,  
see pages 12 to 17.
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OUR YEAR  IN BRIEF

Highlights of 2015

AAT announces 
AQ2016 at the 
Training Provider 
Conference 

Annual Conference 
covering topics 
such as cybercrime, 
management and 
tax updates

 
Out of home advertising launches in the UK  
on trains, tubes and billboards

AAT wins ‘Best Use of Social Media’  
at the Association Excellence Awards 

 

AAT hosts the Training Provider Awards 
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AAT surpasses 
2014 prospect 
student numbers 
in early July

AAT launches 
in Ireland

AAT reaches 
70,000 
Facebook fans

 
Two million Greenlight tests  
(part of AAT’s e-learning offering) 
taken since launch

AAT signs Memorandum of 
understanding with the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants 
and hosts international roundtable 
of accounting technician bodies 
in Singapore  

 
AAT hosts the Botswana 
Achievement Ceremony

OUR YEAR  IN BRIEF



President and Chief Executive’s review

Questions and answers with our 
President Allan Ramsay and Chief 
Executive Officer Mark Farrar as 
they review the performance 
of the year and future targets.
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AAT’s mission is to empower people and 
enable businesses to achieve their potential 
by promoting relevant financial skills. Here, 
President Allan Ramsay and Chief Executive 
Mark Farrar discuss AAT’s performance in 
2015 and priorities for the year ahead.

How did AAT perform in 2015?

MF: 2015 was a good year for AAT with an 
increase in new students and membership 
growth overall. Throughout the year we 
focused on expansion, innovation and 
diversification. We ensured financial 
security through collective hard work and 
clear strategic vision, making consistent 
progress in all areas. 

AR: Despite a background of relatively 
challenging circumstances, including 
spending cuts and a still-fragile economy, 
we performed well in 2015. In addition to 
the encouraging numbers of new students, 
we focused on positioning AAT to become 
bigger, better and bolder in the future.

Top left Mark Farrar

Top right Allan Ramsay

Centre Mark Farrar talks at 
the AAT Council Meeting 

November 2015

Bottom Allan Ramsay at the 
AAT Council Meeting 

November 2015

How has AAT progressed against  
its objectives?

MF: A key objective for 2015 was to expand 
our international footprint: we entered seven 
new countries and formed strong working 
relationships with the Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants in Ireland and the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. 
We initiated a significant overhaul of our 
qualifications to increase membership and 
ensure we’re providing students with the 
most relevant skills. From September 2016, 
seven qualifications will be delivered: AAT 
Foundation Certificate in Accounting – Level 
2; AAT Foundation Diploma in Accounting 
and Business – Level 2; AAT Advanced 
Diploma in Accounting – Level 3; AAT 
Professional Diploma in Accounting – 
Level 4; AAT Foundation Certificate in 
Bookkeeping – Level 2; AAT Advanced 
Certificate in Bookkeeping – Level 3; and 
AAT Foundation Award in Accounting 
Software – Level 2.
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“ Our vision is to position AAT to reach the 
heart of businesses by being recognised as 
leading in the development of practical financial 
skills, and we’re developing the qualifications 
and the infrastructure to make this happen.”

Mark Farrar
Chief Executive Officer

President and Chief Executive’s review continued

We also received approval to create an 
associate membership category, with 
bookkeeping as the key proposition. This 
will launch in 2016 and will be a major 
factor in creating flexibility for the future. 

In addition, our newer qualifications and 
shorter courses gained strong traction in 
colleges around the UK. We’ll continue 
developing this range in the coming years. 
As well as refreshing our apprenticeship 
framework, we also continued to enhance 
our e-learning suite to strengthen our 
educational support. 

Together, this spectrum of changes will 
deliver a significantly enriched learning 
proposition for members, associate 
members and non-members.

From an internal perspective, we 
reviewed our IT systems to make them 
more customer centric and to augment 
our offering and agility.

AR: As Mark mentioned, our international 
expansion in Ireland and Singapore was 
a key success and generated attractive 
opportunities for both AAT and our 
students. For example, accountants who 
qualify with AAT will have the opportunity 
to become affiliate members with the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants. Not only does this enhance 
our students’ international career prospects 
in a key financial market, it ensures we’re 
resonating with young professionals who 
have an increasing appetite for mobility. 
In addition, we spoke to representatives of 
other accounting bodies around the world 
to open up discussions about future 
opportunities on a number of fronts. 

In terms of enhancing our reach and 
influence, in 2015 we increased our 
lobbying activity and responded to 94 
government consultations alone on tax 
and accountancy issues, which amplified 
our voice and influence within the industry. 
We also strengthened our role in shaping 
dialogue by hosting the first roundtable for 
accounting technician bodies, attended by 
the International Federation of Accountants, 
the World Bank and representatives from 
accounting technician bodies around 
the world. The event created a platform 
to explore commonalities and develop 
a better shared understanding of the role 
of accounting technicians. It proved a 
valuable opportunity to gather views and 
further unity within the industry. Due to 
the roundtable’s popularity, we intend to 
continue it, in some form, going forward.

We also held a workshop for HM  
Revenue & Customs (HMRC) to examine 
the impact of technological advancements  
on the sector, and our members’ Annual 
Conference achieved its highest  
attendance level to date. 

What were some of the 
challenges and achievements 
of the last 12 months?

MF: The further education marketplace 
is experiencing a number of challenges, 
namely cuts in government funding, 
rationalisation of colleges and the 
redirection of funding towards 
apprenticeships. Nevertheless, 
our student numbers continued to grow.

More than

135,000
members and we are  
growing every year
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Among other highlights, our e-learning 
support materials tests exceeded two 
million users since launch and we further 
strengthened our social media presence 
– winning an Association Excellence 
Award for our online membership 
recruitment platform. 

AR: As Mark touched on, the reduction in 
public funding to support further education 
is a significant challenge. Yet AAT’s 
performance in spite of this indicates the 
strength of our proposition. 

What has been the impact of AAT’s 
new business plan?

MF: We began 2015 with a refocused 
strategy covering growth, education and 
skills, professional development and reach. 
Our aim was to create greater clarity across 
the organisation, define our objectives and 
identify growth and development targets. 
We also wanted to ensure everyone knows 
where they fit within the business and,  
in turn, align our resources, finances,  
risk management and account reporting. 
The positive effect was tangible not only 
from a strategic perspective, but also in 
providing a more lucid vision throughout  
the organisation.

AR: The new business plan has crystallised 
our goals and brought them into greater 
alignment. While these objectives were 
always present, it has adjusted our focus 
and created more clarity.

What qualities characterise AAT?

MF: Our most defining feature is our 
culture. When I first joined, I was struck by 
the organisation’s family environment and 
this collegiate quality elevates us from the 
crowd. We’re also distinguished by our 
passion. As professionals, we truly believe 
in the value of what we do, which is 
enabling individuals to achieve their 
potential and helping businesses be 
more productive and efficient.

AR: I would add that we have an honest and 
transparent culture; our office is virtually all 
open plan. We have a terrific team in place 
with great communication. People enjoy 
working here and each other’s company 
– reflected by our ‘One to Watch’ rating 
from Best Companies. 

In terms of our educational offering, AAT 
provides a great opportunity for those 
who seek an alternative to university. Our 
teaching centres on practical, hands-on 
learning and experience rather than theory; 
this creates an invaluable foundation for 
accountants. And after three years, those 
who wish can progress to chartered 
accountancy – but with money in the 
bank instead of student loan debt. 

“ The new business plan has crystallised 
our goals and brought them into greater 
alignment. While these objectives were 
always present, it has adjusted our focus 
and created more clarity.”

Allan Ramsay
President
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How do you see the future of 
accountancy, and AAT’s role 
within that future?

MF: A variety of dynamics are affecting 
the sector’s future. In particular, changes 
to the educational landscape, technological 
developments and ever-increasing 
regulation all present challenges. 
Accountants will need to adapt accordingly 
and stay attuned to developments. 

Despite these changes, I believe accounting 
technicians will remain the backbone of 
finance teams. Their skillsets are fit for 
purpose and cost-effective compared with 
many alternatives. However, as technology 
comes to bear, the key will be developing 
flexible skillsets with particular focus  
on analysis.

AAT’s future role is to continue bringing 
practical financial skills into the UK’s 
business community. To evolve with the 
sector, we need to provide wide-ranging, 
contemporary qualifications and support 
to help accountants navigate upcoming 
changes. The initiatives we introduced in 
2015 are setting us firmly in this direction. 
We will also continue communicating our 
views at government level in order to shape 
and influence policymakers’ proposals. 

AR: Accountancy is one of the industries 
that will be most affected by technological 
developments, specifically cloud based 
technology. As such, accountants’ required 
skillsets are changing. To navigate this 
change, we began gathering insight on the 
likely role of accountants in five to ten years’ 
time and strategising our response. We’re 
aware these changes are coming; we must 
be nimble and ensure our qualifications  
are appropriate for the accountants  
of tomorrow.

President and Chief Executive’s review continued

What are AAT’s priorities for 
the year ahead?

MF: Looking ahead, we plan to be bigger, 
better and bolder. We have clear priorities 
for the coming year, focused on growth, 
expanding our international presence, 
launching our qualifications suite, and 
amplifying our voice with policymakers and 
governments. Our vision is that AAT reaches 
the heart of businesses by being recognised 
as leading in the development of practical 
financial skills, and we’re developing the 
qualifications and the infrastructure to 
make this happen.

AR: We’ve made good progress in 2015 and 
we’ll continue to increase membership in 
the coming year. Growth is a core objective, 
both in the UK and internationally. We have 
enormous opportunities to develop but will 
achieve this in a controlled manner so we 
attract new clients while providing high 
quality service to our existing members. 
Our qualifications will be a key focus, as 
will sustainability as we work to embed this 
more deeply within our company culture 
and continue to increase our corporate 
social responsibility activities. 

Allan Ramsay
President

Mark Farrar
Chief Executive Officer

74%
increase in consultations



Understanding our markets

We continued to drive growth in student numbers 
and increase the value by addressing markets 
across the world in a focused and ambitious way.

A GROWING INTERNATIONAL PRESENCE

LOOKING AHEAD FLEXIBILITY

As the UK’s leading qualification and 
membership body for vocational 
accountants, AAT occupies a competitive 
position within the regulated qualifications 
space. The skills offered by our wide-
ranging qualifications mean we also have 

a significant presence in international 
markets. And our reputation is further 
supported by the calibre and breadth 
of our members’ roles within financial 
management – underpinning businesses  
in the UK and abroad.

Looking ahead, a number of factors will 
impact and shape the role of accountants 
in the marketplace. In particular, technology 
will have a significant bearing, with 
developments in cloud computing and 
predictive software being most notable.  
As such, we need to conduct ongoing 
evaluations to ensure AAT remains market 
leading and our members have the right 
skills to stay at the forefront of developments.

In order to maximise the opportunities 
presented by our changing market, and 
manage the challenges that arise, AAT  
and its members are changing. 

We will continue to ensure that our  
portfolio of qualifications remains critical  
for students and employers, providing  
the highest level of support to individuals 
and businesses in the UK and abroad.  
We will also continue to offer a range of 
membership services which accommodate 
and optimise the different drivers within  
our market. In addition, we will explore 
emerging opportunities presented by the 
changing environment. If we are able to 
embrace these transformations and  
harness the opportunities that emerge,  
the future prospects for AAT look strong.

The accounting landscape is shifting. 
Changing expectations from employers and 
students, combined with funding reductions 
and the increasingly transformative role of 
technology, are challenging the industry. 
Employers are resource poor, leading them 
to seek quick results through shorter, more 
flexible training solutions. Similarly, students 
have less available time and are focused on 
short term outcomes, achieved through 
bite-sized learning. As our students focus 
on immediate employability over career 
development, the value of our membership 
proposition will increasingly be questioned, 
and funding remains an enduring challenge. 
Pressure on domestic and international 
government spending is reducing both 
available funding for our qualifications and 
students’ access to financial support. THE 

EVOLVING
MARKET

More than

300,000
computer based 

assessments taken  
this year
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VALUE 
CREATION

Our business model and business plan

Our charitable objects
The Association of Accounting Technicians, 
referred to throughout this report as AAT, is 
a registered charity and also a company 
limited by guarantee. AAT’s charitable 
objects which benefit the public are:

1. to advance public education and 
promote the study of the practice,  
theory and techniques of accountancy 

2. (a) to prevent crime 
  (b)  to promote the sound administration 

of the law for the public benefit by 
promoting and enforcing standards of 
professional conduct amongst those 
engaged in accountancy, monitoring 
and supervising their compliance with 
money laundering legislation.

The Trustees confirm that they have 
referred to the guidance contained in the 
Charity Commission’s general guidance on 
public benefit when reviewing the Charity’s 
aims and objectives and the planning of 
future activities. Our charitable objects 
underpin our business model and strategy.

Our strategic objectives
Our strategic objectives are clear. We are 
pursuing growth, education and skills, 
professional development and reach. We 
also aim to operate sustainably in all areas, 
including our people, processes and 
finance, and by meeting our commitments 
to corporate social responsibility.

We will achieve our vision to reach the heart 
of businesses by being recognised as 
leading in the development of practical 
financial skills. Successful delivery of our 
strategy will be underpinned by being 
recognised as offering: 

• a first-choice range of learning  
solutions meeting broad customer  
and employer needs 

• relevant and flexible membership 
solutions and services across a breadth 
of audiences.

Creating value
In 2015 we continued to drive growth in 
student numbers and increase our global 
value by addressing markets across the 
world in a focused and ambitious way.

AAT is the UK’s leading qualification 
and membership body for vocational 
accountants. We work across the globe with 
over 135,000 members in more than 90 
countries. Our members are represented at 
every level of finance and accounting, and 
include self-employed business owners.

Our competitive advantage lies in our 
relationship with training providers. We 
support and develop our members through 
more than 500 AAT-approved training 
providers globally, which enables us to 
deliver leading qualifications across the 
world. We have increased our offering to 
allow students to select the qualifications 
and courses that best suit them, while 
benefiting from the high quality standards 
delivered by the AAT brand. All of our 
qualifications adhere to changing regulatory 
requirements, and we continue to ensure 
our qualifications remain innovative and 
market leading.

We reinvest our membership fees into 
support services enabling our members 
to develop at every stage in their careers. 
We also have an extensive branch network 
where members can access support and 
training and meet other AAT members in 
their local area.



Key beneficiaries 
 

of our value chain
Employees

 

Suppliers
 

Students
 

Communities

SHARED VALUE CREATION

Apply Engage

Explain

Explor
e

RESOURCES AND 
RELATIONSHIPS

Read more on page  20

Vision 
To ensure that AAT reaches 
the heart of businesses by 
being recognised as leading 
in the development of 
practical financial skills.

Markets 
We work across the globe 
with private and public 
training providers. 
 

Read more on page 9

Risks and opportunities 
Public funding cuts remain a 
concern. However, we continue 
to develop market leading 
qualifications. 

Read more on page 26

Governance 
AAT is a charity. Its Trustees 
make sure AAT adheres to 
its charitable aims. 
 

Read more on page 30

MAXIMISING VALUE BY FOCUSING ON OUR BUSINESS PLAN

Education and skills 
We work to make accountancy 
accessible to all and continue 
to develop our qualifications 
and courses.

Read more on page 14

Growth
Membership now stands 
at over 135,000. 
 

Read more on page 13

Professional development 
We develop products and services 
to support members throughout 
every stage of their career. 

Read more on page 16

Reach 
We engage with governments 
and accountancy bodies across 
the globe to highlight the work 
of AAT.

Read more on page 17



OUR BUSINESS PLAN  
IN ACTION

Growth
When Sean was 18 he started working in an accounts office for a 
few weeks to gain experience. He quickly realised that accounting 
was what he’d like to do as a career. After looking at various finance 
roles he found an accountancy apprenticeship where he works and 
studies AAT at the same time. 

 “AAT has been the perfect course for 
my job role, giving me knowledge of 
all accounts aspects which I have 
been able to apply to my work.”
SEAN COBLEY, STUDENT MEMBER 
Accounts Apprentice at Subscan Technology

Trustees’ report
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Growth
Despite ongoing economic challenges  
and reallocated government funding,  
AAT achieved consistent growth in 2015. 
Our total membership increased by 1.3%  
to 135,369 and our new student volumes 
grew by 4.7% to 27,605 – reflecting  
AAT’s position as the UK’s leading 
qualification and membership body  
for vocational accountants.

Building on the success of 2014,  
we continued to develop our suite of  
courses and qualifications – growing new 
qualifications by 33%. This broader offering 
will enable us to meet the needs of a wider 
range of students and members, and 
ensure we deliver market leading education.

How did we grow?
We increased the number of new  
training providers
We grew the number of new training 
providers in 2015, reaching a total of 54 
in the UK and eight globally. We plan to 
continue this growth in 2016. By increasing 
our training partner volumes we were able 
to satisfy greater demand and expand our 
service delivery. 

Education and government authorities 
utilised our courses
We continued to make significant progress 
within adult education provided by local 
authorities, with many delivering our short 
qualifications and the AAT Accounting 
Qualification to their students. Our short 
qualifications were also used to help 
unemployed people find work through the 
Government’s Welfare to Work programme. 

This uptake, combined with an increase 
in private training providers delivering AAT 
qualifications, contributed considerably  
to the growth of AAT students in 2015.

We expanded our international footprint
In 2015 we entered seven new  
markets as part of our plan to achieve 
controlled international growth. Significantly, 
we launched AAT’s qualifications and 
membership services in the Irish  
market and signed a memorandum  
of understanding with the Institute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants to  
offer the AAT Accounting Qualification  
in Singapore. These developments will 
enable AAT to support and strengthen  
the accountancy profession in these  
new markets, increase student and  
member numbers, and build a globally 
recognised brand.

We focused our marketing efforts
Our growth in new student volumes 
was supported by our marketing efforts. 
Through carefully targeted advertising we 
expanded brand awareness and attracted 
new students.

We responded to demand for  
newer qualifications 
Our new qualifications were roundly 
adopted by students, reflecting the strength 
of AAT’s reputation. As a result of our richer 
offering, students gained the skills to fulfil 
a broader range of finance roles. From 
a wider perspective, our qualifications 
enhance opportunities for people who may 
not have considered themselves equipped 
for a professional career. Not only does this 

ACTIVITY  
AND IMPACT 
REVIEW



Private sector
non-accountancy practice

48%
Public sector

25%
Private sector

accountancy practice

18%
Voluntary, charity, not for profit and other

9%
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Trustees’ report continued

MEMBERS BY SECTOR

benefit individuals, it also provides value 
to businesses, with increased numbers 
of well-trained finance professionals 
contributing to a strengthening economy. 

Education and skills
Educating through innovation
We continued to develop our suite of award 
winning e-learning to support students 
throughout their qualifications, tutors to 
deliver our qualifications and our members 
on their professional journey. Our e-learning 
offering includes:

• formative (Greenlight) multiple choice 
tests which give students instant 
feedback and allow them to identify 
their strengths and weaknesses 

• study support webinars where experts 
work through particular problems 

• e-learning bite-sized modules on key 
areas of difficulty in the curriculum 

• interactive PDFs that students can 
use online or print out and keep 

• assessment briefings to introduce 
students to how assessments will  
be delivered. 

During 2015, our Greenlight tests passed  
a significant milestone, with over two million 
tests taken since their launch in 2012. 

Developing accountancy apprenticeships 
for the future
In recognition of our expertise in working 
with businesses across the industry, AAT 
took an active role in the UK’s Department 
for Business, Innovation and Skills 
Trailblazer programme for accountancy 
apprenticeships. Trailblazers give employers 
the opportunity to design apprenticeship 
standards to meet their needs, and AAT 
was invited as a professional body to ensure 
that those undertaking apprenticeships are 
able to receive professional accreditation. 
The intention is that by 2017 all 
apprenticeships will be delivered under new 
standards. We played a key role in both 
Level 3 and Level 4 Trailblazer groups and 
drew on our knowledge and experience to 
ensure that qualifications are both relevant 
and valuable for businesses and the 
apprenticeships who undertake them. 

Delivering new teaching specifications
Throughout the year we developed seven 
new qualifications which we will launch in 
September 2016. AAT Accounting 
Qualifications Levels 2 – 4 2016 (AQ2016) 
are a revision of Accounting Qualifications 
2013 (AQ2013). They are designed to 
ensure we offer the most relevant 
qualifications to the sector and remain 
compliant with the latest educational policy. 

These new qualifications enable us to 
reflect on and respond to feedback on 
AQ2013, and ensure our qualifications 
remain up to date, relevant and meeting the 
needs of our stakeholders. They will also 
introduce qualification grading and synoptic 
assessments, with fixed assessment sittings 
for the latter, and re-sit restrictions at Levels 
2 and 3.

In addition, for launch in September, we 
are also redeveloping: AAT Level 2 Award 
in Computerised Accounting into AAT 
Foundation Award in Accounting Software 
– Level 2; AAT Level 2 Certificate in 
Bookkeeping into AAT Foundation 
Certificate in Bookkeeping – Level 2; and 
AAT Level 3 Certificate in Bookkeeping 
and Ethics into AAT Advanced Certificate 
in Bookkeeping – Level 3. 

Expanding our membership categories
We initiated a significant overhaul of our 
qualifications to increase membership and 
ensure we provide students with the most 
relevant skills. As part of this drive, Council 
approved the first associate membership 
category, Bookkeeping AATQB, in July. 
Work has been ongoing to develop this new 
bookkeeping membership package and we 
intend to launch it in 2016. This will be an 
important step in widening our reach and 
offering, and increasing AAT’s flexibility for 
the future.

Performance and service highlights
In 2015, we exceeded our performance 
in a number of areas. Highlights include:

• uptake in bookings for our Annual 
Conference – 6% higher than in 2014

• a 15% increase in use of AAT online 
careers resources compared with 2014

• 47 centrally organised Continuing 
Professional Development (CPD) events 
(including webinars) for AAT members in 
2015, in addition to the branch network 
CPD event programme. Average event 
attendance rose to 65 in 2015, compared 
with 42 in 2014 

• special resources made available 
to members, following the budget 
announcements in March, July and 
November, which announced key changes 
relevant to the finance profession

• our study support resources received 
a 98% satisfied/very satisfied rating 
for face-to-face events, and 79% of 
delegates who attended the online 
webinars found them useful.



OUR BUSINESS PLAN  
IN ACTION

Education and skills
Joanna was 21 years of age and working part 
time at an independent clothes shop in Bath 
as a sales assistant when the bookkeeper 
left. Her boss suggested she complete the 
AAT Bookkeeping Qualification so she could 
take over the responsibility of doing the 
books, which she did for the remainder 
of her time in the role.

 “The AAT Bookkeeping 
Qualification teaches you  
practical skills that are 
essential in the working 
environment and helps 
you to progress within 
the accounting sector.”

JOANNA BEKIRCAN
Tax Specialist at HMRC
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OUR BUSINESS PLAN  
IN ACTION

Professional development
AAT members are supported through 
every stage of their professional career.

WHAT THIS 
MEANS  
FOR OUR 
MEMBERS

RYAN LOBO
Finance Apprentice 
at Croydon Council

CRISTINA PATEL MAAT
Managing Director 
at Priority Point Ltd

 “Being a member gives me the reassurance 
that there is a team of professionals behind 
me should I need technical support over the 
phone. There are also networking and CPD 
events, along with relevant and useful 
online information.”

“ An accountancy apprenticeship is such 
a great option, as you study for your AAT 
Accounting Qualification whilst building 
up valuable work experience.”

GEMMA HINES FMAAT
Managing Director 
at BFMS Ltd

 “After qualifying, AAT offers good 
ongoing support and you feel part of 
the organisation. AAT ensures that CPD 
rules are followed and has independent 
assessors to inspect your business – giving 
additional reassurance to your clients.”

Trustees’ report continued
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In terms of our customer service satisfaction 
figures (UKCSI), we received strong results 
across the board with an overall score of 
83.7%, which continues to support AAT’s 
reputation and value to students and 
members. We also achieved an average 
94.2% level of satisfaction from customers 
with service provided to them when calling 
our contact centre.

In addition to the results listed above, 
we achieved 93% full member retention, 
which suggests the majority of AAT 
members see benefit in our membership 
offering. 70% of members considered our 
membership package to be good or 
excellent, while 88% of fellow and 84% 
of full members thought their AAT 
membership was very good and quite 
good value for money respectively.

Professional conduct
We continued to develop and implement 
AAT’s revised regulatory framework, and 
the Regulation and Compliance Board 
considered and recommended the 
underlying suite of policies to Council.  
It is designed by AAT to support the new 
regulations developed in 2014 and ensure 
we implement and adhere to regulatory 
standards effectively. 

In our drive to raise standards within our 
membership and the finance profession 
as a whole, we have increased volumes of 
practice assurance activity. This is where 
AAT audits members working in their 
own practice to ensure they are meeting 
regulatory requirements. At present, 
212 reviews have taken place between 
1 January and 31 December 2015; 

findings for 111 of these have been 
reported. Eighty were found to be compliant 
which is a percentage of 72%. The conduct 
and compliance team also have no 
disciplinary cases over 18 months old.

AAT’s Head of Conduct and Compliance 
chairs the Accountancy Affinity Group of 
the Anti-Money Laundering Supervisors 
Forum, which seeks to promote 
convergence in approach to supervisory 
activity across all the professional bodies 
in the accountancy sector with supervisory 
responsibilities. Key themes addressed over 
the course of 2015 have been ‘managing 
supervisory overlap’ and risk. In response to 
these key themes, AAT has built upon its 
existing risk model, and will be continuing 
to do so over 2016.

Reach
Amplifying our voice
A key objective for 2015 was to increase  
our voice and influence with government and 
policy organisations. Throughout the year we 
responded to 94 consultations – a growth of 
74% on the previous year, which reflects the 
increasing value we are able to deliver to the 
accounting industry. We act for and on 
behalf of members and this activity helps 
shape the environment they work in.

In addition to being engaged on key forums 
across different government agencies and 
regulators, we hosted a number of joint events 
with HMRC and the Office of Tax Simplification. 
At the forefront of these initiatives was the 
digital focus roundtable session we led 
for HMRC, with key representatives from 
software companies, agents, AAT and HMRC. 
Technological developments will continue to 
impact the accounting industry and AAT is 
playing a critical role in shaping dialogue 
around this important issue.

AAT is also one of seven signatory bodies 
to the Professional Conduct in Relation to 
Taxation guidelines, and as such has been 
working with the other bodies by way of 
a working party to further develop the 
guidance to help set clear standards 
around the promotion of tax evasion and 
tax avoidance. This has been in response 
to the call issued by the House of Commons’ 
Public Accounts Committee in 2015 for a new 
code of conduct for all tax advisers. The 
signatory bodies have been working with 
HMRC on the development of the guidance in 
order to ensure that the profession and HMRC 
can work together in influencing behaviours in 
relation to tax evasion and tax avoidance.

We continued to attend the International 
Federation of Accountants Council (IFAC) 

meetings. Our previous president sits on the 
International Accounting Education Standards 
Board with our Director of Education acting as 
her technical adviser. Our Head of Conduct 
and Compliance is also a technical adviser 
to the International Ethics Standards Board, 
further increasing our involvement with IFAC 
and ensuring our views continue to be 
represented at the highest level.

Establishing global commonalities
To establish a platform to explore 
commonalities and share opinions, we 
developed and hosted the first international 
roundtable for accounting technician 
international bodies. The event was 
attended by IFAC, the World Bank and 
representatives of accounting technician 
bodies from around the globe. We aimed  
to explore issues and advance growth and 
professionalism within the accountancy 
profession. The event was well received and 
proved successful in establishing a forum 
for dialogue. We will continue to build on 
this in coming years to further strengthen 
international unity.

Breaking new ground
Our social media platform #MAATchat also 
broke new ground as the winner of the 
Association Excellence Awards’ ‘Best Use of 
Social Media’ category. Initially designed as 
a one-off campaign to increase membership 
recruitment, the success of #MAATchat led 
to repeat campaigns at regular intervals and 
contributed to our positive growth in 
membership during 2015.

Impact
The impacts of AAT’s activities during  
2015 included:

• giving more people access to accountancy 
training and a professional career through 
AAT’s open access qualification, without 
the restrictions placed on studying for 
other accountancy qualifications

• giving more people access to local 
training providers through the expansion 
of the number of training providers in the 
UK and internationally

• allowing people who do not want 
to study the full AAT accounting 
qualification the ability to study shorter 
courses which benefit themselves and 
their employers such as bookkeeping 
and computerised accounting. 

• enabling students to take ownership 
of their study through the development 
of our e-learning

• making the AAT qualification more 
valuable to our members through the 
voice and influence that AAT has with 
government and policy organisations.
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A CRUCIAL 
PART  
OF OUR 
BUSINESS

15%
Increase in use of AAT  

online careers resources

As the UK’s leading qualification  
and membership body for vocational 
accountants, we are responsible 
for promoting further education 
and professional development 
opportunities for people across  
the UK. 

Creating opportunities
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Our work aims to ensure accountancy 
is accessible to individuals from all 
backgrounds and regions. To do this, 
we partner with other organisations and 
charities, and develop our own initiatives to 
promote the full range of accounting career 
options. We also generate professional 
opportunities for students and young people 
looking to begin a career in accounting.

Supporting careers fairs and events 
Throughout the year we attended a range 
of educational fairs to promote careers in 
accountancy to a diverse audience. These 
events included the Skills Show, Big 
Careers Fair, National Career Guidance 
Shows, Newham Careers Fair, Diversity 
Apprenticeship Careers Show and South 
Cheshire College Careers and Higher 
Education Fair.

In addition, we held our own career 
events for AAT students, members and 
non-members, showcasing different routes 
into accountancy. To broaden our outreach, 
AAT regional area managers also visited 
colleges and schools regularly to promote 
accountancy and the benefits of studying 
with AAT. Our network branches further 
encouraged members to attend local 
schools and careers events. This resulted 
in several branches establishing volunteer 
programmes which enable members to 
visit local schools and colleges, and 
discuss careers in accountancy.

Championing apprenticeship 
opportunities
In 2015, we continued working with  
the charity Leadership Through Sport  
& Business, which places school leavers 
from disadvantaged backgrounds in 
accounting apprenticeships within financial 
institutions. These apprenticeships lead to 
AAT qualifications and include mentoring. 
Participants also take part in coaching 
programmes with local community sports 
projects in order to develop leadership 
skills. AAT provided public relations 
support and will continue to assist the 
charity’s work in the future. 

To further endorse apprenticeship 
opportunities, we collaborated with 
the organisation GetMyFirstJob to 
encourage prospective students to apply 
for apprenticeships. We registered more 
than 1,200 AAT-listed apprenticeship 
vacancies on its job feed nationwide 
and attended events to promote 
awareness of these opportunities.

Enabling greater access  
to accountancy
During the year we continued working with 
Access Accountancy – a collaboration 
between employers and professional bodies 
dedicated to improving access to the 
accountancy profession and encouraging 
applicants from a range of backgrounds. 
We also helped to shape and promote the 
programme, and will continue to provide 
ongoing support.

To deliver maximum benefit, we 
strive to make AAT membership highly 
accessible. So in 2015, we launched 
our pilot undergraduate affiliate package, 
helping college accountancy students 
become AAT members. This pilot scheme 
recognises non-AAT qualifications as an 
educational route to full AAT membership. 
We also mapped the degree programmes 
of a number of universities so students 
can become eligible to apply for AAT 
membership on graduation. Current 
undergraduates can also subscribe to 
AAT to gain access to certain benefits via 
a personalised MyAAT online profile, which 
creates a pipeline for membership. Through 
partnering with universities and providing 
career support for undergraduates, we 
aim to help people attain their first role 
in finance – enabling individuals and 
businesses to reach their full potential.

Corporate social responsibility  
away days 
In addition to promoting opportunities within 
the sector, we are also increasingly involved 
in initiatives to benefit the communities in 
which we live and work. For example, our 
Web team spent a day in north London’s 
Waterlow Park rebuilding fences, clearing 
ponds, removing invasive plant species and 
controlling vegetation growth. Similarly, our 
Finance team spent its team away day 
working in a neglected public garden 
– digging, replanting and revitalising this 
public resource in Essex. We will continue 
to look at ways in which we can support 
local community work in 2016. 

Our internal relationships
As well as the outward-facing work we 
do, a crucial part of our activity focuses 
on ensuring the wellbeing and satisfaction 
of our employees. Early in 2015, we asked 
employees to complete a survey and, 
following the results, we restructured 
and delivered a more targeted wellbeing 
programme throughout the year. 

We also successfully implemented a new 
pay and reward framework. We are also 
reviewing our employee benefits with a 
view to offering a better package that 
delivers more value for our employees.

Acknowledgement of our  
members’ contributions
Many AAT members provide support, 
including facilitating and attending branch 
and CPD events, and contributing to 
consultations on a voluntary basis. The 
benefits from this support cannot be 
overestimated in helping AAT achieve  
its objectives.

20,000
students accessed  
our online career  
resources in the  

last year

A CRUCIAL 
PART  
OF OUR 
BUSINESS
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Key performance indicators

KEY PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS
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Comment
Our total core membership increased by 
1.3% to 135,369 as of 31 December 2015, 
continuing the consistent growth pattern of 
recent years. 

Comment
27,605 new core students registered on 
AAT’s Accounting Qualification in 2015. 
This was 4.7% up on 2014, including 7.1% 
growth in the UK, with strong growth from 
UK distance learning and private training 
providers. This shows the high value in 
which students regard the AAT Accounting 
Qualification.

Comment
New full members declined slightly in 2015 
which, based on insight gathered during 
the year, is down to a combination of 
factors including affiliate progression to 
other qualifications and a perception that 
the application process is a barrier. This is 
an area of focus for 2016 with initiatives 
planned to encourage greater progression 
to full membership.

Comment
Our new suite of qualifications continues to 
gain traction in the market, suggesting that 
students see the impact training can have 
on their career. New qualifications student 
registrations were 33% up on 2014, 
reflecting on the new qualifications 
launched partway through the year in 
September 2014.

Comment
At 7.3%, AAT’s surplus as a percentage of 
recurring income was 2.3% above the 5% 
target set by Council, including income 
growth of 5% on 2014.

Comment
At 40.2%, AAT’s income reserves were 
0.2% above the top of the target range set 
by Council of between 30% and 40% of 
expenditure, reflecting AAT’s strong 
financial position.
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Comment
Our total core membership increased by 
1.3% to 135,369 as of 31 December 2015, 
continuing the consistent growth pattern of 
recent years. 

Comment
27,605 new core students registered on 
AAT’s Accounting Qualification in 2015. 
This was 4.7% up on 2014, including 7.1% 
growth in the UK, with strong growth from 
UK distance learning and private training 
providers. This shows the high value in 
which students regard the AAT Accounting 
Qualification.

Comment
New full members declined slightly in 2015 
which, based on insight gathered during 
the year, is down to a combination of 
factors including affiliate progression to 
other qualifications and a perception that 
the application process is a barrier. This is 
an area of focus for 2016 with initiatives 
planned to encourage greater progression 
to full membership.

Comment
Our new suite of qualifications continues to 
gain traction in the market, suggesting that 
students see the impact training can have 
on their career. New qualifications student 
registrations were 33% up on 2014, 
reflecting on the new qualifications 
launched partway through the year in 
September 2014.

Comment
At 7.3%, AAT’s surplus as a percentage of 
recurring income was 2.3% above the 5% 
target set by Council, including income 
growth of 5% on 2014.

Comment
At 40.2%, AAT’s income reserves were 
0.2% above the top of the target range set 
by Council of between 30% and 40% of 
expenditure, reflecting AAT’s strong 
financial position.
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Financial review

Despite a challenging year for the UK  
and global economies, AAT has maintained 
a strong financial position. This will allow 
us to continue to invest income reserves  
in developing initiatives that meet our 
Charity’s objects and business plan 
objectives, while ensuring risk reserves  
are maintained at a prudent level. 

This is the first year in which the financial 
statements have been prepared under 
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102. 
The financial statements on pages 36 to 56 
are based on the results of the AAT Group. 
The statement of financial activities on page 
36 shows a level of net income before other 
recognised gains and losses of £126,000 
(2014: £817,000), or 0.5% (2014: 3.2%) of 
total income. This year’s net income is lower 
than the prior year due to investment losses 
of £341,000 in 2015 (2014: investment 
gains of £563,000). The investment losses 
of 2015 were driven by the fall in global 
stock markets with the impact of the turmoil 
emanating from China.

The net movement in the unrestricted 
income funds of the AAT Group, after the 
deduction of the pension reserve arising 
under FRS 102, was an increase of 
£2,147,000 (2014: decrease of 
£1,161,000).

Key performance indicator: surplus of 
recurring income over expenditure

2015 £1,962,000 or 7.3%
2014 £587,000 or 2.3%

The growth in recurring surplus was driven 
by the growth in recurring income of 6%.

The surplus of recurring income over 
expenditure measures income and 
expenditure for recurring core charitable 
activities and excludes any expenditure 
relating to development activities. During the 
year, more work was done on development 
projects, with net development expenditure 
of £1,495,000 (2014: £333,000), with a 
view to improving internal efficiencies, 
addressing any new regulatory requirements 
and offering improved customer services. 
Such development projects include work 
on AQ2016 and an improved assessment 
platform. 

Although more resources were spent on 
development projects, this had no negative 
impact on recurring activities and the 
current services we provide. This has meant 
that expenditure on recurring activities 
remained stable compared to the prior year 
at £24,818,000 (2014: £24,789,000).

THE
RIGHT 
PATH 

REVIEW OF OUR FINANCIAL 
POSITION FOR THE YEAR 
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Under FRS 102 the net income figure is  
now calculated after net (losses)/gains  
on investments. In 2015, losses on 
investments were £341,000 (2014:  
gains of £563,000).

The statement of financial activities on 
page 36 shows a net income of £126,000 
(2014: £817,000) or 0.5% (2014: 3.2%) 
of total income.

Review of AAT’s final salary 
pension scheme
A deficit valuation of £3.7 million made on 
1 October 2013 was used as the basis to 
calculate our repayment plan to pay off the 
deficit. Payments of £1,300,000 were made 
in 2014, and future payments of £300,000 
per annum were agreed for each year from 
2015 to 2023. The next full triennial 
valuation was due on 1 January 2016.

For the purposes of financial reporting,  
we used the projected unit credit method  
to carry out the actuarial valuation of the 
scheme. The accounting actuarial valuation 
of our defined benefit pension scheme under 
FRS 102 showed a liability of £2.8 million 
(2014: £4.9 million). Further details are 
provided in note 7 to the accounts.

Investment policy and objectives
Statement of investment principles  
and treasury policy
The Investment Panel, comprising members 
with a finance background, is responsible 
for the effective management of AAT’s 
investments, although the day to day 
management of surplus cash held by AAT 
is delegated to Secretariat. The Investment 
Panel appointed Ruffer LLP in May 2009 
to manage our non-cash assets and achieve 
our investment objectives, outlined below.

The investment objectives focus on 
ensuring that medium to long term funds 
have been invested in an ‘absolute return’ 
strategy to seek more consistent returns 
and reduce volatility. In absolute return 
strategies the manager does not track the 
market as such, but uses a range of asset 
classes to minimise market volatility and 
target a long term real return. In summary, 
the overall objective of this strategy is to 
achieve capital preservation and prevent 
any loss of money on a rolling 12 month 
basis. It also aims to achieve consistent 
positive returns, which are significantly 
greater than the return on cash.

We continue to invest surplus cash in 
non-cash deposits. This is done after 
careful consideration of our three year 
business plan. We also take into account 
the free cash resources needed to fund the 
business plan and cover any risks likely to 
create financial impact over the business 
planning period. 

Based on AAT’s treasury policy as updated 
in 2014, the investment objective regarding 
surplus short term cash (over a period of 
up to 12 months) is to maximise the level 
of interest income while ensuring AAT’s 
capital is preserved and working capital 
requirements are met. The treasury policy 
states that any excess cash should be 
placed in short term deposits with A- (but 
preferably higher) credit rated institutions. 
UK Government-backed institutions are 
preferred. We have also spread our financial 
risk by holding our surplus funds in different 
institutions, where possible. 

We have an ethical screening policy which 
prevents investment in alcohol, armaments, 
gambling, pornography and tobacco.

Investment performance 
The Panel meets with Ruffer LLP, AAT’s 
investment managers, after the end of each 
calendar quarter to review the portfolio’s 
most recent quarterly performance under 
its management. The regular meetings also 
enable the Investment Panel to maintain a 
good understanding of Ruffer’s strategic 
approach.

In the early part of 2015, the portfolio 
registered its third consecutive quarter  
of growth and this was mainly driven by 
increased investment in Japanese equities. 
However from Q2 onwards, the portfolio’s 
performance decreased as it was affected 
by the most significant fall in global equities 
since 2011 and China’s stock market bubble.

As at 31 December 2015, AAT held  
£17.0 million (2014: £16.3 million) of 
investments with Ruffer LLP. This was  
after investing a further £1 million of AAT’s 
surplus funds during 2015. The portfolio 
made £341,000 of investment losses  
during the year (2014: investment gains  
of £563,000).
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RISKS AND  
OPPORTUNITIES
AAT’s risk policy is to ensure our internal 
and external environments are continuously 
monitored and the strategic risks AAT faces 
are identified and recorded. 

We have a well-documented risk 
management methodology and framework, 
which ultimately sits with the Board of 
Trustees. In practice, AAT employees, and 
in particular the Chief Executive and other 
members of the Executive Team, are 
responsible for assisting Council to identify, 
monitor, manage and mitigate the risks to 
which AAT and its subsidiaries are exposed 
on a day to day basis. These risks are 
recorded in a risk register. Those identified 
as having the greatest potential impact on 
AAT or its subsidiaries are reviewed by the 
various policy boards and Council at each 
business meeting. The Executive Team 
conducts a full review of the risk register 
on a regular basis. 

AAT’s risk management framework is 
aligned with the business plan in that risks 
attached to each strategic objective are 
identified together with the effect those 
risks pose. The likelihood and impact of 
each risk is then assessed using a risk 
appetite framework and actions agreed 
based on the net overall impact of the risk.

Risks

Opportunities to grow and diversify are 
carefully researched in order to assess 
their potential for risk. All new policy 
developments considered by the boards 
include a risk assessment. AAT looks to 
maximise opportunity while operating a 
well-balanced regard for risk.

Reserves policy
In accordance with Charity Commission 
guidance, we annually review the level of 
income reserves we consider necessary to 
maintain the financial security of AAT and 
simultaneously fund its business plan. Our 
reserves policy focuses on the level of 
income or ‘free’ reserves. This is defined as 
the total of net current assets and readily 
realisable fixed asset investments, after 
deducting the pension scheme liability. 

We seek to maintain an adequate level of 
income reserves to manage and mitigate 
the risks to which AAT is exposed, and to 
provide funding for new initiatives.

Risk and development  
reserves target
Council considers that the risk reserves held 
by AAT should be maintained at a prudent 
level of at least 25% of gross annual revenue 
expenditure, with development reserves held 
of up to 10% of gross annual expenditure. 
These levels are considered to be in line with 
good financial governance and mitigate the 
impact of key risks to which AAT is exposed. 
When setting the target level for reserves for 
the 2014 to 2016 budget, Council considered 
these components and the total income 
reserves required to cover the risk and the 
development needs of AAT. In light of this, 
Council set target reserve levels of between 
30% and 40% of gross annual revenue 
expenditure over the three years. 

This approach should ensure a sufficient 
level of risk reserves so that AAT could 
restructure its finances to manage the 
ongoing effect of a significant change in its 
fortunes, and provide accessible funding for 
the major developments planned.
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The seven key strategic risks, covering both internal and external risks, are as follows:

Key risks Impact Key mitigation for 2015

Loss of market share and  
increased competition

Failure to respond to changing 
demands from our membership, 
leading to fewer prospects and a 
reduced membership population

Developing our engagement strategy and actively 
segmenting our membership to implement more targeted 
communications and campaign activities

Greater public funding cuts Potential to impact the ability of 
training providers to offer AAT 
qualifications, therefore weakening 
AAT’s market position

Focused public affairs and communication activities, and 
senior level involvement in consultations; target penetration 
of other markets and other funding sources

Meeting new and stringent 
government qualification 
requirements

Incurring higher costs and 
suffering financial loss

Robust financial modelling; reviewing our pricing strategy 
for qualifications and assessments

Inefficient business processes 
and systems

Unnecessary costs and damage 
to AAT’s brand and reputation

Top down and bottom up process reviews are in progress 
to evaluate, refine and simplify processes, creating 
improvements in operational efficiency 

Perception that insufficient 
resource is invested in 
anti-money laundering (AML) 
compliance activity

AAT could lose its supervisory 
status if unable to uphold 
compliance

Appointment of an AML and Ethics Policy Manager to 
further develop activity; increase desk based monitoring 
activity and member engagement on AML

Decline of influence with  
external stakeholders

Weakening AAT’s profile Increased focus on public affairs activity; clearer synergy 
between extending our influence and AAT’s business plan

Inadequate resources or 
contingency planning

Inability to meet deadlines and hit 
business plan targets

Continued forward planning and review of business projects 
across the business to ensure we have enough resources 
in place to meet deadlines without stretching capacity

Income reserves level
Our calculation of income reserves is 
equivalent to the ‘free’ reserves defined 
by the Charity Commission. The two 
calculation methods arrive at the same 
reserves level of £10,707,000 as at 
31 December 2015 or 40.2% (2014: 
£7,806,000 or 30.7%) of gross annual 
revenue expenditure. This was 0.2% above 
the top of the target range set by Council of 
between 30% and 40% (2014: 30% and 
40%), or £7,993,000 to £10,657,000 of 
gross annual revenue expenditure.

The AAT Group’s total unrestricted income 
funds as at 31 December 2015 were 
£12,433,000, after allowing for a reduction 
in reserves of £2,775,000 which arose from 
the deficit in our final salary pension 
scheme as calculated under FRS 102.

Key performance indicator: income reserves

2015 £10.7 million
2014 £7.8 million

Principal funding sources and 
how expenditure in the year has 
supported AAT’s objectives
We receive our funding primarily from our 
membership – mostly through subscriptions 
and assessment fees. We also receive other 
income from our qualifications, for example 
through events or fees for CPD courses 
organised for our members. We use this 
income to deliver our assessments, offer 
member services and ensure AAT’s 
qualifications are widely recognised and 
of high quality. This also helps fund robust 
and up-to-date technology to support our 
assessments. In addition, funding is used 
to deliver e-learning material to support 
our students throughout different stages 
of their studies. 

Our expenses include staff costs 
for employees directly involved in 
delivering or supporting AAT’s activities. 
This excludes costs for non-executive 
Trustees (Council members), who do 
not receive remuneration. 

While providing member services, we incur 
costs across human resources, finance, 
marketing, information and communication 
technology, office accommodation, 
administration, compliance and facilities, 
as well as for our website and magazine. All 
these areas are key in enabling other teams 
to improve and deliver their services, and 
assist in delivering AAT’s objectives.

Going concern
Having reviewed the strategic risks facing 
AAT and the Group, as well as the three 
year business plan and the expected level 
of cash and investments, the Trustees 
consider that there are sufficient reserves 
held as at 31 December 2015 to manage 
those risks and deliver the business plan. 
The Trustees believe that AAT and the 
Group have adequate resources to fund 
their activities for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the Trustees are of the 
view that AAT and the Group are a 
going concern.
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PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS  

We have an ambitious vision for the future, particularly  
around extending our reach to businesses and individuals, 
while maintaining a strong position in qualifications, 
professional membership and financial health.

Our key priorities in 2016 include: 

• launching a bookkeeping membership proposition

• delivering revised accounting qualifications across  
four levels

• developing apprenticeships in line with new  
Trailblazer standards

• evaluating student/full member support and the  
potential for bursaries.
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Reference and administrative 
details of the AAT Group 
The full name of the parent charity  
is ‘The Association of Accounting 
Technicians’, referred to throughout  
this report as AAT. AAT is registered  
as a company limited by guarantee with 
Companies House in England and Wales 
(no. 1518983), and registered as a charity 
with the Charity Commission for England 
and Wales (no. 1050724).

AAT’s trading subsidiary ‘Accounting 
Technicians (Services) Limited’ (ATSL) is 
a private limited company registered with 
Companies House in England and Wales 
(no. 03116873).

There are currently three Directors of ATSL: 
two appointments from among the Directors 
of AAT and the Chief Executive of AAT.

The registered office for AAT and ATSL is 
140 Aldersgate Street, London EC1A 4HY.

The AAT Group includes a 50:50 share in 
AAT South Africa NPC (AAT(SA)), a joint 
venture with the South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (SAICA). AAT(SA) 

is a non-profit company incorporated 
under the Companies Act No. 71 of 
2008 (no. 2008/023530/08).

The Directors of AAT(SA) who held office 
during 2015 were the Chief Executive of 
AAT; the Director of Finance of AAT; 
Executive Director: Nation Building SAICA; 
Executive Director: Members and Global 
Alliances SAICA (Azim Omar until 
8 January 2016); and two independent non-
executive directors: Financial Management 
Improvement Office of the Accountant 
General (until 18 October 2015) and the 
Executive Head of Retail Operations, 
African Bank. Two new appointments to 
the Board were approved on 11 March 
2016: SAICA Senior Executive Finance 
(CFO – Abdul-Khader Mohamed) and 
independent non-executive (Xolisa 
Dlanga), National Treasury Analyst 
in Capacity Building Unit. 

Organisation and control
AAT’s governing body is its Council. All 
members of Council are both Trustees and 
non-executive directors of AAT. Day to day 
management of the Charity is delegated to 
AAT’s Chief Executive and other senior 
members of staff. 

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring 
that the Group acts solely to further AAT’s 
stated charitable objects, in accordance 
with the organisation’s governing document, 
Articles of Association.

Organisational structure of the AAT 
Group (how decisions are made)
Council has responsibility for certain 
specific functions which it does not 
delegate. However, it also oversees a 
framework of delegation, with clear levels  
of authority, which enables other matters  
to be deputised to policy boards and the 
Executive. Council has in place a structure 
of boards and panels which ensure AAT can 
respond quickly to changes in the external 
environment. This structure also supports 
the generation of new initiatives. Under this 
structure, the policy boards are accountable 
to Council, and implement policy within a 
set framework. Council reviews the terms  
of reference of all boards and panels at 
least annually, as well as the scheme  
of delegation.

The four main policy boards are Learning 
and Development, Members’ Services, 
Regulation and Compliance, and 
Resources. Together with the Audit and 

Structure, governance and management

GOVERNANCE 
AND CONTROL
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Assurance Board and the Governance 
Panel, they form the centre of AAT’s 
decision making process, enabling 
Council to govern effectively. 

The relationship of the boards and panels 
to Council is shown above.

All decisions taken by the Board of ATSL, 
AAT’s subsidiary company, are in line 
with the parent charity’s objects and any 
conflicts of interest are managed and 
addressed within the Group’s best interest. 

The aim of AAT(SA), a joint venture with 
the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, is to provide a professional 
body and qualification for accountants in 
South Africa. AAT(SA) seeks to regulate and 
support, in the public interest, the technical 
competence and professional standards 
of its members. The Board of AAT(SA) is 
formed of staff from both AAT and SAICA 
and two independent non-executive 
directors. The organisation is currently 
focusing on skills development and 
capacity building.

Governance and internal control
AAT continues to pursue high standards of 
governance based on the Good Governance 
Code for the Voluntary and Community 
Sector and the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. Where applicable, this guidance is 
taken into account in managing the affairs 
of AAT. 

As an important component of good 
governance, AAT has in place a Code 
of Conduct for Council members, which 
Trustees are required to sign up to on 
appointment. In addition, AAT holds a 
register of all Council members’ interests 
to ensure clarity and openness, and to 
uphold the integrity of AAT. 

Audit and Assurance Board, and 
Internal Audit
AAT’s Audit and Assurance Board acts 
independently of the policy boards and 
reports directly to Council. The Board’s 
terms of reference are based on guidance 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council, 
and an independent member serves on  
the Board. 

The Audit and Assurance Board’s 
responsibilities include internal control and 
risk assessment, as well as reviewing (and 
challenging, where necessary) the annual 
report and financial statements of AAT and 
its subsidiaries. This is done with particular 
focus on compliance with accounting 
policies and relevant standards, clarity of 
disclosures and adjustments resulting from 
the audit. The Board’s activities involve 
dealing directly, on Council’s behalf, with 
the external auditors regarding conduct of 
the audit.

In 2015, the Board focused on reviewing 
AAT’s risk management framework and 
developing better reporting mechanisms, 
as well as Internal Audit and the transition 
to reporting under FRS 102. 

AAT has an Internal Audit function which 
acts independently of the external auditors. 
This function undertakes a programme 
of internal control reviews and reports to 
the Audit and Assurance Board on the 
effectiveness of these controls and 
associated risk management. 

Audit and Assurance Board

Remuneration Committee

Global Development 
Steering Group

Learning and
Development Board

Governance Panel

Education and 
Training Monitoring Panel

Investment Panel

Members’ Services
Board

Regulation and 
Compliance Board

Resources Board

Investigation Committee

COUNCIL

RELATIONSHIP OF THE BOARDS AND PANELS TO COUNCIL
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The consideration of risk is embedded 
within our business planning process, and 
the Audit and Assurance Board reports to 
Council at each of its meetings on AAT’s 
key strategic risks. 

During the year, the function was 
transitioned from an in-house internal 
auditor to an external resource. Following 
a tendering exercise, Moore Stephens LLP 
was appointed to provide internal audit 
services to AAT.

Remuneration policy for key 
management personnel 
The principles and framework for the 
remuneration policy for the Executive Team 
were approved by Council in December 
2007. Council delegated responsibility for 
finalising the details to the Remuneration 
Committee. Since the remuneration policy 
was implemented in 2008, the salary range 
details have been updated to reflect cost of 
living awards agreed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee.

Remuneration for key management 
personnel comprises two key elements:

• Base salary: this is set at a level to make 
the salary competitive and to take into 
account the individual’s skills and 
experience. The base salary is also set 
after considering any benefits that form 
part of the overall remuneration package. 
The base salary is reviewed annually 
provided that the individual is performing 
well and making the appropriate level of 
business contribution.

• Performance bonus: this is payable 
subject to the achievement of specific 
targets aligned to the business plan. The 
targets for the Executive Team (excluding 
the Chief Executive) are set and agreed 
with the Chief Executive. The Chief 
Executive’s targets are set and monitored 
by the AAT’s President and Vice 
President. The performance bonus 
comprises an element for individual 
achievement and an element for the 
Executive Team’s achievement. 

EFFECTIVENESS
Recruitment and appointment 
of new Trustees
Up to 18 Trustees of AAT are appointed 
by election from among our full or fellow 
members. In addition, up to 12 Trustees 
are nominated by our sponsoring bodies. 

AAT’s sponsors are the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA), the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales 
(ICAEW), the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants (CIMA) and 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of Scotland (ICAS). Sponsorship is non-
financial and each body nominates up to 
three members who contribute their skills 
and expertise for the benefit of AAT.

In addition, the senior office holders of 
Council (the President, the Vice President 
and the two most recent Past Presidents) 
are ex-officio members of Council. Up to 
a further four Trustees may be co-opted 
under Article 46 of the Articles of 
Association. The Vice President of AAT 
is elected by members of Council in line 
with a formal process approved in 2007.

Commitment
AAT Trustees commit to serving as a 
member of Council and a member of at 
least one other board or panel. The 
Council year begins at the AGM in May and 
members meet four times per year. Boards 
and panels typically have three meeting 
cycles. Trustees are expected to attend all 
meetings and the Articles of Association 
require them to attend at least 50% of 
Council meetings. 

Members of Council play an important role 
in representing AAT to the public and, as 
such, are encouraged to attend a variety 
of events in their ambassadorial role. 
Members can serve on Council for a total 
of nine years before they are required to 
take a break.

Development
We have a framework in place for Council 
members’ induction, learning and 
development. This provides all members 
with the opportunity to develop their skills 
and knowledge, and help them contribute 
effectively to the work of AAT. 

Council strategy day
In July, Council members gathered in 
Glasgow for an annual strategy day, 
designed as a forum for strategic discussion. 
The event created an opportunity for more 
activity based working and open, free-
thinking discussion. The overarching 
theme was longer term ‘horizon scanning’, 
set against a backdrop of AAT’s business 
plan and analysis of the short and long 
term factors influencing strategic planning. 
Council also considered AAT’s corporate 
social responsibility activity and identified 
key areas of focus for AAT going forward. 
A formal meeting of Council followed the 
away day to formalise strategic goals 
and outcomes.

In addition to an annual strategy day, 
Council took part in an annual learning and 
development day which focused on ideas 
and approaches in governance practices. 
To ensure AAT remains aware of and 
proactive in governance issues, members 
considered how AAT’s governance can 
meet current and future needs. 

Specialist training sessions for boards and 
panels were also held throughout the year. 

Information and support
Under the leadership of the Chief Executive, 
members of the Executive provide help, 
advice and support to the Council and its 
boards and panels.

Diversity
For the Council year 2015-16, Council 
comprised 19 male Trustees (56%) and 15 
female Trustees (44%). In comparison, our 
FMAAT membership is 54% male and 46% 
female, while our MAAT membership is 
32% male and 68% female. 

Our employees
Throughout 2015, we delivered a more 
targeted wellbeing programme in response 
to the results of a wellbeing survey 
completed by employees earlier in the year. 
We also successfully implemented a new 
pay and reward framework and we are 
reviewing our employee benefits with a view 
to offering a better package that is valued 
more by employees. Employee turnover in 
2015 was 22%.

Structure, governance and management continued
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OTHER MATTERS
Details of AAT’s advisers 
The names and addresses of the third 
parties who were the main advisers to the 
AAT Group during 2015 are as follows: 

Bankers
• Lloyds Banking Group, Thavies  

Inn House, 6 Holborn Circus,  
London EC1N 2HP

• Aberdeen Asset Investments Limited, 
5th Floor, Edinburgh One, Morrison 
Street, Edinburgh EH3 8BE

Solicitors 
• Edwin Coe LLP, 2 Stone Buildings, 

Lincoln’s Inn, London WC2A 3TH

Auditors 
• Grant Thornton UK LLP, Grant 

Thornton House, Melton Street, 
Euston Square, London NW1 2EP 

Investment Managers 
• Ruffer LLP, 80 Victoria Street,  

London SW1E 5JL 

Political and charitable donations 
AAT made no charitable donations during 
2015 or in the prior year.

Policy on payment of creditors
It is the AAT Group’s policy to abide by the 
terms of payment agreed with our suppliers 
– either their standard terms or special 
terms where agreed beforehand.

TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
STATEMENT
The Trustees (who are also Directors  
of The Association of Accounting 
Technicians for the purposes of  
company law) are responsible for  
preparing the Trustees’ Report and  
the financial statements in accordance  
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to 
prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law the Trustees 
have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards and applicable law). Under 
company law the Trustees must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the charitable 
company and the Group and of the 
incoming resources and application of 
resources, including the income and 
expenditure, of the charitable Group for 
that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Trustees are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies  
and then apply them consistently

• observe the methods and principles  
in the Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice

• make judgements and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent

• state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards have been followed, subject  
to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on  
the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable Group will continue  
in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the charitable 
company’s transactions, and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the company, and 
enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the charitable 
company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees confirm that: 
• so far as each Trustee is aware, there  

is no relevant audit information of which 
the charitable company’s auditor is 
unaware; and

• the Trustees have taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken as Trustees in 
order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish 
that the charitable company’s auditor is 
aware of that information.

The Trustees are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
charitable company’s website. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions. 

The Trustees confirm that in approving the 
Trustees’ Report they are also confirming 
the Strategic Report in their capacity as 
Directors of the charitable company.

By order of the Council

Jane Towers
Director and Trustee 
Chairman, Resources Board 
London 
17 March 2016 
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Independent auditor’s report to 
the members of The Association 
of Accounting Technicians
We have audited the financial statements of 
The Association of Accounting Technicians 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 
which comprise the group statement of 
financial position and parent company 
balance sheet, the group charitable 
company statement of financial activities, 
the group statement of cash flows, and the 
related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland.

This report is made solely to the charitable 
company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to 
the charitable company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them  
in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted  
by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the 
charitable company and its members as  
a body, for our audit work, for this report,  
or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities  
of trustees and auditor
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ 
Responsibilities Statement set out on page 
33, the Trustees (who are also the directors 
of the charitable company for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require 
us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the 
financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of 
financial statements is provided on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and parent charitable company’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of 
the group’s incoming resources and 
application of resources, including its 
income and expenditure for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006.

Independent auditor’s report
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Opinion on other matters prescribed 
by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the 
Trustees’ annual report (including the 
strategic report) for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required  
to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Companies Act 
2006 requires us to report to you if, in  
our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not 
been kept by the parent charitable 
company, or returns adequate for our 
audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

• the parent charitable company’s financial 
statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of trustees’ 
remuneration specified by law are 
not made; or

• we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit.

Jennifer Brown
Senior Statutory Auditor 
for and on behalf of 
Grant Thornton UK LLP  
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
London 
17 March 2016
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Statement of financial activities for the Group 
(incorporating the income and expenditure account) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 

The notes on pages 39 to 56 form part of these financial statements. 

Income and expenditure account Notes 

2015 
Total 
funds 
£’000 

2014 
Total 

funds 
£’000 

Income from:    

Charitable activities – subscriptions and fees 3 14,418 13,210 

Charitable activities – assessments  11,313 11,105 

Events  315 312 

Other  544 522 

Other trading activities 20(i) 329 326 

Investments 2 191 227 

Total income  27,110 25,702 

Expenditure on:    

Raising funds    

Pension scheme finance costs 7 (165) (151) 

Investment management costs  (176) (154) 

Trading activities expenses 20(i) (305) (85) 

Charitable activities    

Growing membership and other customer relationships 4 (11,444) (10,409) 

Developing accountancy skills 4 (7,601) (6,893) 

Enhancing standards of and commitment to professionalism 4 (5,305) (6,074) 

Broadening our influence 4 (1,647) (1,682) 

Total expenditure  (26,643) (25,448) 

Net (losses)/gains on investments  11(iii) (341) 563 

Net income  126 817 

Net movement in interest in joint venture undertaking 21 (7) 36 

Other recognised gains and losses    

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension scheme 7 2,028 (2,014) 

Net movement in funds, including pension reserve  2,147 (1,161) 

Total funds brought forward  10,286 11,447 

Total funds carried forward at 31 December, including pension reserve 17 12,433 10,286 

 
The statement of financial activities, all of which are derived from continuing operations, includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. 
All income is unrestricted. 
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Balance sheets 
As at 31 December 2015 

  
AAT 

(Parent charitable company) Group 

 Notes 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Fixed assets   

Tangible assets 10 1,661 2,407 1,661 2,407 

Investments 11 17,183 16,537 16,983 16,337 

Investment in joint venture 21 – – 65 72 

Total fixed assets  18,844 18,944 18,709 18,816 

Current assets      

Stocks  2 6 2 8 

Debtors 12 4,463 4,922 4,513 4,662 

Investments 13 2,934 1,637 2,945 2,010 

Cash at bank and in hand  1,333 1,045 1,511 1,172 

Total current assets  8,732 7,610 8,971 7,852 

Liabilities:      

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (11,746) (10,831) (11,784) (10,872) 

Net current liabilities  (3,014) (3,221) (2,813) (3,020) 

Total assets less current liabilities   15,830 15,723 15,896 15,796 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (688) (572) (688) (572) 

Total net assets before deducting pension liability  15,142 15,151 15,208 15,224 

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 7 (2,775) (4,938) (2,775) (4,938) 

Total net assets after deducting pension liability  12,367 10,213 12,433 10,286 

Represented by:      

Unrestricted income funds      

General reserves  15,142 15,151 15,208 15,224 

Pension reserve  7 (2,775) (4,938) (2,775) (4,938) 

Total unrestricted income funds 17 12,367 10,213 12,433 10,286 

 
All funds are unrestricted. 

The notes on pages 39 to 56 form part of these financial statements. 

Approved by the Council on 17 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

Allan Ramsay 
President and Trustee 

 

Jane Towers  
Chairman, Resources Board and Trustee 

Company number 1518983  
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The notes on pages 39 to 56 form part of these financial statements. 

Group statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2015  

 Notes 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net cash provided by operating activities   2,070 1,577 

Cash flows from investing activities:     

Dividend and interest income  191 228 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets  – (569) 

Proceeds from sale of fixed asset investments  8,598 2,271 

Purchase of fixed asset investments  (9,585) (7,339) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (796) (5,409) 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents in the year 19 1,274 (3,832) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 19 3,182 7,014 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 19 4,456 3,182 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities     

Net income for the reporting period as per the statement of financial activities  126 817 

Depreciation charges  746 973 

Losses/(gains) on investments  341 (563) 

Dividend and interest income   (191) (228) 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  – 166 

Decrease/(increase) in stocks  5 (1) 

Decrease in debtors  149 495 

Increase in creditors 18 1,029 1,067 

Pensions reserve funding deficit movements 18 (135) (1,149) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  2,070 1,577 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Basis of preparation  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
(‘the Charities SORP’) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) – (Charities SORP (FRS 102)) and the Companies Act 2006. The financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investments which are stated at market value as stated in the accounting 
policy below.  

After discussions with key management personnel, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to 
continue its activities for the foreseeable future. The Group's three year business plan shows that it will be profitable and will be able to meet 
its liabilities. Accordingly, the Trustees continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing financial statements as outlined in the Trustees' 
Responsibilities Statement. 

This is the first year in which the financial statements have been prepared under FRS 102. Refer to note 23 for an explanation of the transition. 

Consolidation of financial statements of subsidiary and joint venture undertakings 
The consolidated financial statements consist of the financial statements of AAT, its active subsidiary, and the Group’s share of interests in its joint 
venture. No separate statement of financial activities has been presented for the Charity alone as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 
2006. The total turnover of the Charity is £26,779,000 (2014: £25,618,000). The net result of the Charity after taking into account the actuarial 
losses on the defined benefit pension scheme is a net surplus of £2,154,000 (2014: net deficit of £1,198,000). 

AAT owns the whole of the share capital of Accounting Technicians (Services) Limited. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a line by line basis with the results and net assets position at the balance sheet date set out in note 20(i). The other subsidiary undertaking, 
Accounting Technician (Publications) Limited was dormant throughout the current and previous years.  

AAT has accounted for the Group’s share of its joint venture company, namely AAT(SA), using the gross equity consolidation method. 
The results and net assets position at the balance sheet date are set out in note 21. 

Branches are not consolidated as their results are not material to the Group.  

Fund accounting  
Unrestricted funds comprise accumulated surpluses and deficits on general funds that are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees 
in the furtherance of the general objectives of AAT. 

Recognition of income 
Income is recognised when the Group has entitlement to the funds, it is probable that the income will be received and the amount can 
be measured reliably. 

Income attributable to the financial year is recognised as follows:  

• student, full and fellow members’ subscriptions are accounted for in the period to which they relate  
• student, full and fellow members’ registration fees are accounted for at the time of registration  
• assessment fees are accounted for when the assessments are contractually committed to  
• investment income is accounted for over the period in which it is earned 
• other revenue streams are accounted for as earned or as the services are performed.  

Deferred income  
Student, full and fellow member subscriptions are payable in respect of a rolling 12 month period and are credited to income over the period 
to which they relate. The balance of this income that falls into the following year at the year end is shown as deferred income (see note 14). 
No obligation exists to repay this or any part of it to student, full or fellow members.  

Resources expended  
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs related to the category. 
A further analysis of this expenditure is given in notes 4 and 5.   
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Resources expended (continued) 
Support costs are those costs incurred directly in support of the objects of the Group.  

Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings they have been allocated to activities on a basis consistent with use of the 
resources. Premises overheads and other overheads have been allocated on the basis of headcount.  

Governance costs are those incurred in relation to the running of the Group and include strategic planning and attending to the constitutional  
and statutory affairs of the Group.  

Foreign currency accounting policy 
Foreign currency transactions in relation to AAT’s joint venture company AAT(SA) are valued at the average rate for the year within the statement 
of financial activities, and at the year end rate within the balance sheet. Foreign currency gains or losses are credited or charged to the statement  
of financial activities as they arise. 

Pensions accounting policy 
The pension asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet represents the fair value of the scheme’s assets less the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation, as calculated by the AAT company’s actuaries under FRS 102. Scheme assets are measured at fair values at the reporting date. 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method which requires various 
actuarial assumptions to be made, including discount rates, mortality rates, retail price inflation and consumer price inflation. The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting future payments using interest rates equivalent to market yields on high quality 
corporate bonds. 

Capitalisation of equipment and development expenditure  
All single purchases of less than £10,000 (incl. VAT) are written off in the year of purchase unless forming part of a more comprehensive scheme 
where the total is £10,000 (incl. VAT) or more.  

Expenditure, other than own staff costs, incurred by AAT relating to the development and implementation of online services, e-learning and 
e-assessment and the development of AAT’s website and which is deemed to have a future economic benefit is capitalised at cost. The depreciation 
of such expenditure is charged on a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic life of the asset up to a maximum of three years.  

Tangible assets 
Tangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost less any residual value over the expected useful lives (or the remaining period of the lease 
for leasehold improvements), using the straight line method. The rates applicable are: 

Category Rates applied 

Plant and equipment 15.0% – 25.0% 

Office furniture 10.0% 

Leasehold improvements Over the life of the lease 

Membership database and finance system 12.5% – 33.3% 

Website 33.3% – 50.0% 

Other computer related items 20.0% – 50.0% 

 
The impairment of fixed assets is reviewed annually and provisions made where necessary. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
Leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to revenue on a straight line basis over the lease term.  

AAT has provided fully for the estimated dilapidation costs relating to its leases on 140 Aldersgate Street over the remaining terms of the 
leases, in accordance with the amount per square foot which is stipulated in the heads of terms, and these were estimated at £173,229 
as at 31 December 2015; see note 14. 

Rent reserve 
The rent free period incentive has been spread over the term of the leases on a straight line basis. 

Investments  
Investments listed on a recognised stock exchange, including investment and unit trusts, are stated at mid-market value at the balance sheet date. 
The statement of financial activities includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluations and disposals throughout the year. It is AAT’s policy  
to keep valuations up to date such that when investments are sold there is no realised gain or loss arising. As a result the statement of financial 
activities does not distinguish between the valuation adjustments relating to sales and those relating to continued holdings as they are together 
treated as changes in the investment portfolio throughout the year.  

In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at fair value (for which the Trustees believe that the value 
of the balance sheet of the subsidiary is the most appropriate method of valuation). The investment in the joint venture is classed as a programme 
investment and is therefore stated at cost less amounts written off. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and bank balances comprise cash in hand and at bank, overnight deposits and short term deposits with a maturity of less than one year.  

Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
Preparation of the financial statements requires management to make significant judgements and estimates. The items in the financial statements 
where these judgements and estimates have been made include: 

Pensions  
The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. Normal contributions to the final salary pension scheme ceased 
during 2010.  

The pension asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet represents the fair value of the scheme’s assets less the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation. A net pension asset is only recognised to the extent that it is expected to be recoverable by the Charity in the future. Scheme 
assets are measured at fair values at the reporting date. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting future payments using interest rates 
equivalent to market yields on high quality corporate bonds.  

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited or charged to the statement 
of financial activities as they arise. The difference between interest income and interest cost on the defined benefit obligation is recognised 
immediately in the statement of financial activities. 

Contributions to our Group personal pension scheme are charged to revenue according to the period to which they relate. 

Membership lapsing provisions 
In reporting membership subscription income for any period, a lapsing provision is recognised to account for those students, affiliates or members 
who are expected to have their membership ended, if they have not renewed or settled their subscriptions by a specified date. At the end of any 
accounting period, some members may not have renewed their subscriptions and If they still have not renewed their subscriptions after a specified 
date, they will be lapsed on the systems but this usually happens a few months after the renewal date. To ensure that the lapsing provision is 
matched to the subscription income that it relates to, the provision needs to be accounted for in the same period that the subscriptions were to 
be renewed. The membership subscription income is therefore adjusted downwards by the lapse provision. The provision is based on the number 
of students, affiliates or members who are expected to lapse by the end of a particular period and which is based on a combination of historical 
trends and member behaviours at that time. 

  

The Association of Accounting Technicians Annual Report 2015  41

Accounts



42 

Notes to the financial statements continued 

2. INVESTMENT INCOME 
 Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Interest receivable 27 26 

Dividends receivable from UK investments 164 201 

Total  191 227 

 

3. SUBSCRIPTIONS AND FEES 
 Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Full members’ subscriptions and fees 6,599 6,143 

Student and affiliate members’ fees 7,819 7,067 

Total  14,418 13,210 

 

4. ANALYSIS OF EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES  

Group 
Staff costs 

£’000 

Other 
direct 
costs 

£’000 

Support and 
governance 

costs 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Growing membership and other customer relationships  5,397 1,120 4,927 11,444 10,409 

Developing accountancy skills 3,014 1,805 2,782 7,601 6,893 

Enhancing standards of and commitment 
to professionalism 1,800 1,942 1,563 5,305 6,074 

Broadening our influence 611 623 413 1,647 1,682 

Total 10,822 5,490 9,685 25,997 25,058 

 

5. ANALYSIS OF SUPPORT AND GOVERNANCE COSTS 

 

 
Growing 

membership 
and other 
customer 

relationships 
£’000 

Developing 
accountancy 

skills 
£’000 

Enhancing 
standards 

£’000 

Broadening 
influence  

£’000 

 
 

Group 

Total 
2015 
£’000 

Total 
2014 
£’000 

Chief Executive’s Office 314 177 99 26 616 474 

Finance 553 313 175 46 1,087 901 

Human Resources 323 182 103 27 635 565 

Programme Management Office and  
Corporate Development 571 323 181 48 1,123 840 

ICT 2,156 1,217 684 181 4,238 4,182 

Procurement and facilities 743 420 236 63 1,462 1,392 

Governance 267 150 85 22 524 615 

Total 4,927 2,782 1,563 413 9,685 8,969 

 
In the table above, the basis of apportionment of the costs across the charitable activities has been headcount numbers. 

42  The Association of Accounting Technicians Annual Report 2015

Accounts

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED



43 

6. EMPLOYEES 
 Group 

Staff costs 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Salaries and wages 8,745 7,959 

Staff recruitment and training 548 560 

Employer’s social security costs 950 882 

Employer’s pension costs 579 526 

Total 10,822 9,927 

 
Redundancy payments of £17,393 (2014: £65,480) were made during the year. Payments in both the current and prior year were made as 
compensation for loss of office. Such payments are recognised in the period they arise.   

The key management personnel of AAT comprise the members of the Executive Team as listed on page 57. The total employee benefits in kind 
of the key management personnel of AAT were £8,230 (2014: £5,878). 

Employee numbers 
The average number of staff employed by AAT throughout the year was 235 (2014: 218). 

Emoluments of senior staff 
The number of employees whose total emoluments amounted to £60,000 or above for the year is as follows: 

 2015 
No. 

2014 
No. 

£60,001 – £70,000 5 5 

£70,001 – £80,000 6 – 

£90,001 – £100,000 1 1 

£100,001 – £110,000 2 3 

£110,001 – £120,000 2 1 

£170,001 – £180,000 1 1 

 
The details of employees whose emoluments amounted to £60,000 or above for the year is as follows: 

 
Employees 

(excluding Chief Executive) Chief Executive  

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Salary 1,253 825 168 165 

Bonus 36 21 5 5 

Private medical insurance 7 6 1 – 

Total 1,296 852 174 170 

 
The ratio of the Chief Executive’s emoluments to the lowest paid employee is 8.  

All members of Executive are members of the Group personal pension scheme. The former Chief Executive and two of the six remaining members 
of Executive have retained retirement benefits under the defined benefit pension scheme. The combined employer contributions into the Group 
personal pension scheme with respect to key management personnel for the year amounted to £75,587 (2014: £71,006). 

The total remuneration of the Senior Management Team, defined as the Executive Team, was £786,000 (2014: £755,000). 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

7.  PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (AAT AND GROUP) 
Movement in deficit during the year 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Deficit in scheme at beginning of the year (4,938) (4,073) 

Movement in year:   

Contributions 300 1,300 

Other finance costs (165) (151) 

Actuarial gain/(loss) 2,028 (2,014) 

Deficit in scheme at the end of the year (2,775) (4,938) 

 
AAT operates both a closed final salary pension scheme and an ongoing Group personal pension scheme in order to provide retirement benefits 
to its staff. The final salary pension scheme was closed to new members in June 2002 and closed to future accrual with effect from 1 May 2010. 

The Group personal pension scheme involves no commitment by AAT other than that of paying an agreed level of normal contributions, currently 
set at a minimum of 2% and a maximum of 10.15% of basic salary (the employee rate is a minimum of 1% and a maximum of 4% of basic 
annual salary). Contributions during 2015 were £572,244 (2014: £522,136), with contributions for 2016 budgeted at £624,000. 

The administration of the final salary scheme is the responsibility of the Trustees of the scheme, and its assets are held separately from those of 
AAT and managed professionally. Contributions to the final salary scheme are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of triennial valuations 
using the attained age valuation method to determine contributions to the scheme. 

The date of the last full actuarial valuation was as of 1 January 2013. The next full actuarial valuation will be as of 1 January 2016. 

The main financial assumptions used at the past three balance sheet dates were as follows: 

 2015 2014 2013 

Discount rate 3.8% 3.5% 4.4% 

Retail price inflation 3.3% 3.3% 3.6% 

Consumer price inflation 2.3% 2.1% 2.4% 

Increases to pensions in payment    

• Total pensions accrued prior to 6 April 1997 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

• Total pensions accrued between 6 April 1997 and 31 January 2007 3.7% 3.7% 3.8% 

• Total pensions earned from 1 February 2007 2.1% 2.1% 2.1% 

Pre-retirement increases for deferred pensions 2.3% 2.1% 2.4% 

Commutation allowance 25.0% 25.0% 25.0% 

 
The mortality assumption used is in line with the following tables: mortality before and after retirement: S1PXA mortality tables projected by 
year of birth. 
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7.  PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (AAT AND GROUP) (CONTINUED) 
The scheme’s assets and liabilities were as follows: 

 

Value at 
31/12/15 

£’000 
Percentage of 

total assets 

Value at 
31/12/14 

£’000 
Percentage of 

total assets 

Value at 
31/12/13 

£’000 
Percentage of 

total assets 

Fair value of the scheme’s assets:       

Equities 8,176 55.5% 7,905 54.4% 6,820 55.4% 

Alternatives 2,183 14.8% 2,144 14.8% 1,819 14.8% 

Bonds 4,277 29.0% 4,381 30.2% 3,627 29.5% 

Other assets 91 0.6% 91 0.6% 47 0.4% 

 14,727  14,521  12,313  

Present value of the scheme’s liabilities (17,502)  (19,459)  (16,386)  

Deficit at 31 December (2,775)  (4,938)  (4,073)  
 
Under FRS 102, interest income on the plan assets (formerly the ‘expected return on the assets’) is calculated using the FRS 102 discount 
rate, rather than the individual expected rates of return on each asset class. 

Therefore, the expected rates of return below under FRS 102 apply to all asset classes (each being equal to the discount rate at the year end 
in question): 

Expected rate of return on assets as at 31 December Assumption 

2013 4.4% p.a. 

2014 3.5% p.a. 

2015 3.8% p.a. 

 
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets over the year 
 Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Fair value of plan assets at the start of the year 14,521 12,313 

Interest income on plan assets 512 563 

Return on plan assets excluding interest income (loss)/gain (399) 673 

Employer contributions 300 1,300 

Benefits paid (207) (328) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 14,727 14,521 

 
Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation over the year 

 Group 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Defined benefit obligation at the start of the year 19,459 16,386 

Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation  677 714 

Losses from the effect of experience adjustments  (464) (236) 

(Losses)/gains from the effect of changes in assumptions (1,963) 2,923 

Benefits paid (207) (328) 

Defined benefit obligation at end of the year 17,502 19,459 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

7.  PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (AAT AND GROUP) (CONTINUED) 
Analysis of pension income/(expense) recognised as part of income and expenditure  

 Group 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Interest income on plan assets 512 563 

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation (677) (714) 

Net interest expense on net defined benefit liability (165) (151) 

 
Analysis of amount of actuarial losses to be recognised after net income/(expenditure) 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Return on plan assets excluding interest income (loss)/gain (399) 673 

Gains from the effect of experience adjustments  464 236 

Gains/(losses) from the effect of changes in assumptions 1,963 (2,923) 

Actuarial gains/(losses) 2,028 (2,014) 

 
Return on plan assets 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Interest income on plan assets 512 563 

Return on plan assets  excluding interest income gain/(loss) (399) 673 

Return on plan assets 113 1,236 

 

8. COUNCIL AND BOARD EXPENSES  
 AAT and Group 

 2015 
£ 

2014 
£ 

Total Council and Board expenses incurred in respect of travel, accommodation and subsistence 205,227 227,073 

 
Included in the above are £45,534 (2014: £72,020) of expenses reimbursed to 39 (2014: 37) Trustees in respect of travel, accommodation 
and subsistence. 

No payments are made to members of Council for their services as Charity Trustees or Directors other than the reimbursement of expenses 
incurred in providing such services. None of the Trustees held any beneficial interest in the share capital of any of our subsidiary companies. 
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9. NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) FOR THE YEAR IS STATED AFTER CHARGING: 

The non-audit services related to tax advice on membership benefits. 
 

10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

AAT and Group 

Leasehold 
improvements 

£’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

£’000 

Membership 
database, 

finance systems 
and website 

£’000 

Other 
computer 

related 
items 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Cost      
At 1 January 690 384  3,884 587 5,545 

At 31 December 690 384 3,884 587 5,545 

Depreciation       

At 1 January (575) (226) (1,977) (360) (3,138) 

Charge for the year (47) (48) (569) (82) (746) 

At 31 December (622) (274) (2,546) (442) (3,884) 

Net book value       

At 31 December 2015  68 110 1,338 145 1,661 

At 31 December 2014 115 58 1,907 227 2,407 

 
All fixed assets are held for charitable use. 

  

 Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Net incoming resources are stated after charging:   

Operating lease expense 672 553 

Depreciation charges 746 974 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets – 166 

Audit fee – Charity: current year 36 33 

Audit fee – Charity: prior year – 27 

Audit fee – Subsidiary 5 5 

Non-audit services 3 4 

Legal and professional fees of solicitors, consultants and other advisers 2,102 1,604 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

11. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS 
(i) AAT held the following investments at the year end: 

 AAT Group 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Investment portfolio (see note 11(iii)) 16,983 16,337 16,983 16,337 

Investment held in net assets of Accounting Technicians (Services) Limited 
(see note 20(i)) 200 200 – – 

Total investments held 17,183 16,537 16,983 16,337 

 
(ii) AAT controls the following subsidiary undertakings:  

 Holding Nature of business 
Country of incorporation/ 

registration 

Accounting Technicians (Services) Limited (see note 20(i)) 100% 
£1 ordinary shares 

Private Limited 
Company 

England 
and Wales 

Accounting Technician (Publications) Limited (see note 20(ii)) 100% 
£1 ordinary shares 

Dormant England 
and Wales 

Association of Accounting Technicians (SA) (see note 21) 50% Association 
incorporated 

under section 21  
(in South Africa) 

South Africa 

 
Investments in AAT(SA) have been fully impaired in previous years. 

(iii) Investment portfolio 
 AAT and Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Investments on a recognised stock exchange 14,116 14,662 

Cash 2,867 1,675 

Total 16,983 16,337 

 
 2015 

£’000 
2014 
£’000 

Investments on a recognised stock exchange are as follows:   

Valuation at 1 January 14,662 9,856 

Add: Acquisitions at cost 8,562 6,513 

Less: Disposals (8,767) (2,270) 

Net (losses)/gains on revaluation (341) 563 

Market value at 31 December 14,116 14,662 

 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

These investments are held in the following securities: 

UK equities 1,214 1,200 

Overseas equities 5,822 6,284 

Bonds 6,207 5,917 

Other 873 1,261 

Market value at 31 December 14,116 14,662 
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11. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
The historical cost of these investments is as follows: 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

UK equities 1,162 1,098 

Overseas equities 5,315 5,517 

Bonds 5,978 4,958 

Other 1,975 2,056 

Historical cost at 31 December 14,430 13,629 

 
The investment portfolio included the following stocks which individually accounted for more than 5% of the total value at the balance sheet date:  

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

1.25% Treasury Index-Linked 22/11/2017 – 869 

0.125% Treasury Index-Linked 22/11/2019 – 1,275 

0.375% Treasury Index-Linked 22/03/2062 – 888 

0.125% Treasury Index-Linked 22/03/2024 846 – 

0. 5% Treasury Index-Linked 22/03/2050 858 – 

1.875% Treasury Index-Linked 22/11/2022 843 – 

USA Treasury Notes 1.125% TIPS 15/01/21 USD 839 – 

Ruffer Illiquid Multi Strategies Fund 2015 Limited 894 – 

 

12. DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 
 AAT Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Trade debtors 1,955 2,068 2,055 2,265 

Other debtors 176 122 291 190 

Prepayments 395 546 395 546 

Fees and subscriptions  1,770 1,629 1,770 1,629 

Amount due from subsidiary undertakings 165 525 – – 

Amount due from joint venture (see note 21) 2 32 2 32 

Total 4,463 4,922 4,513 4,662 

 

13. CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS 
 AAT Group 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Aberdeen Asset Investments Limited 334 437 345 810 

Treasury deposits 2,600 1,200 2,600 1,200 

Total 2,934 1,637 2,945 2,010 

 
The current asset investments with Aberdeen Asset Investments are amounts held on deposit in a sterling liquidity fund. 

The current asset investments include £97,000 (2014: £102,000) earmarked for designated funds. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

14. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 
 AAT Group 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Trade creditors 909 1,066 909 1,066 

Taxes and social security 381 318 415 354 

Other creditors 75 34 75 34 

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 1 – – – 

Accruals 1,542 1,234 1,547 1,239 

Deferred income 8,644 7,913 8,644 7,913 

Fees received in advance 21 23 21 23 

Rent reserve reversing within one year (see note 17) – 89 – 89 

Provision for dilapidation 173 154 173 154 

Total 11,746 10,831 11,784 10,872 

 

15. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 
Rent reserve  
In September 2011, AAT terminated the two leases that were in place since the previous year for the ground and first floors of 140 Aldersgate 
Street, and subsequently entered into two new long term leases for the ground and first floors at 140 Aldersgate Street. The new leases have an 
element of a rent free period. The rent free period incentive has been spread over the lease term on a straight line basis. In October 2015, AAT 
entered into a lease for the fourth floor of 140 Aldersgate Street. This new lease has an element of a rent free period. The rent free period has also 
been spread over the lease term on a straight line basis. The movement on the rent reserve for the year was as follows: 

 AAT and Group 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Balance at 1 January  661 743 

Reserve built up during year 116 4 

Reserve released during year (89) (86) 

Balance at 31 December  688 661 

Split of rent reserve:   

Reserve reversing within one year – 89 

Current obligations – 89 

Reserve reversing within two to five years 386 354 

Reserve reversing within more than five years 302 218 

Non-current obligations 688 572 

Total  688 661 
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16. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
The future minimum operating lease payments are as follows: 

 AAT and Group 

 Property Plant and equipment 

 2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Leases which expire:    

Within one year 982 645 6 10 

Between one and five years 5,282 2,579 – 7 

More than five years 1,926 1,584 – – 

Total 8,190 4,808 6 17 

 

17. UNRESTRICTED INCOME FUNDS  

Group 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

At 1 January 10,286 11,447 

Net income for the year 126 817 

Net movement in interest in joint venture (7) 36 

Surplus before pension scheme actuarial gain/(loss) 10,405 12,300 

Pension scheme actuarial gain/(loss)  2,028 (2,014) 

At 31 December, including pension reserve 12,433 10,286 

 

AAT 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

At 1 January 10,213 11,410 

Net income for the year 126 817 

Surplus before pension scheme actuarial gain/(loss) 10,339 12,227 

Pension scheme actuarial gain/(loss)  2,028 (2,014) 

At 31 December, including pension reserve 12,367 10,213 

 
Included in both the Group and Charity unrestricted income funds are revaluation reserves totalling £(314,378) (2014: £1,032,178). 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

18. GROSS CASH FLOWS FOR THE GROUP 

 
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

restated 

Increase/(decrease) in creditors   

Trade creditors (157) 224 

Taxes and social security 61 (14) 

Other creditors 41 (4) 

Accruals 308 (340) 

Deferred income 731 1,280 

Fees received in advance (2) (13) 

Rent reserve 28 (82) 

Provision for dilapidation 19 16 

Total 1,029 1,067 

Pensions reserve funding deficit movements   

Contributions (300) (1,300) 

Other finance cost 165 151 

Total (135) (1,149) 

 

19. ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FOR THE GROUP 

 
At 1 Jan 2015 

£’000 
Cash flows 

£’000 
At 31 Dec 2015 

£’000 

Cash in hand, at bank 1,172 339 1,511 

Other current asset investments 2,010 935 2,945 

Total 3,182 1,274 4,456 
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20. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS AND INTRA GROUP TRANSACTIONS 
(i) Accounting Technicians (Services) Limited (company number 03116873) 
The company recommenced trading in August 2010 and made a profit of £25,218 in 2015 before tax and Gift Aid payable to AAT 
(2014: profit of £242,303). Its activities for that period are summarised below. 

Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2015  
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Turnover 329 326 

Cost of sales (179) (52) 

Gross profit 150 274 

Other operating expenses (126) (33) 

Operating profit 24 241 

Interest receivable 1 1 

Profit on ordinary activities before Gift Aid and taxation 25 242 

Gift Aid payable to AAT (25) (242) 

Profit on ordinary activities after Gift Aid and before taxation – – 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities – – 

Retained profit for the financial year – – 

 

Net asset statement as at 31 December 2015  
2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Current assets 405 766 

Current liabilities (205) (566) 

Net current assets 200 200 

Total net assets 200 200 

Represented by:   

Share capital 200 200 

Profit and loss account – – 

Shareholders’ funds 200 200 

 
 
Total costs reported as from trading activities  

2015 
£’000 

2014 
£’000 

Cost of sales 179 52 

Other operating expenses 126 33 

Total as per statement of financial activities 305 85 

 
(ii) Accounting Technician (Publications) Limited 
The company has been dormant for several years, and the value of its net assets as at 31 December 2015 was £100 (2014: £100). 

As per paragraph 33.1A of FRS 102, disclosures need not be given of transactions entered into between two or more members of a Group, 
provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member. 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

21. JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKING – ASSOCIATION OF ACCOUNTING TECHNICIANS (SA) (AAT(SA) NPC)  
The following table provides a summary analysis of the financial results of the activities undertaken by the company and its net assets position 
as at 31 December 2015 which have been included in the Group results for the year and in the Group balance sheet at the end of the year: 

Statement of income and expenditure 

Results for the year ended 
31 December 2015 

2015 
AAT 

Share 
£’000 

2014 
AAT 

Share 
£’000 ZAR’000 £’000 

Income     
Project income  22,998 1,180 590 539 

Membership and other income 2,443 125 63 106 

Total revenue 25,441 1,305 653 645 

Expenditure (25,073) (1,286) (643) (607) 

Surplus for the period 368 19 10 38 

Exchange rate differences  – (33) (17) (2) 

Net movement for the year 368 (14) (7) 36 

Fund balances brought forward 2,598 144 72 36 

Fund balances carried forward as at 31 December 2015  2,966 130 65 72 

 

Net asset statement as at 31 December 2015 

 
Results for the year ended 

31 December 2015 

2015 
AAT 

share 
£’000 

2014 
AAT 

Share 
£’000 ZAR’000 £’000 

Current assets 21,402 938 469 482 

Current liabilities (18,436) (808) (404) (410) 

Net current assets 2,966  130 65 72 

Total net assets 2,966 130 65 72 

Represented by:     

Unrestricted income funds 2,966 130 65 72 

 
The related party transactions between AAT and AAT(SA) NPC include recharges to AAT(SA) NPC for salary costs of one full time employee, 
assessment production, membership services, membership application processing, magazine distribution and other costs relating to marketing 
design and collateral production. The end of year debtor balance of £2,288 (2014: £32,327) is shown within note 12. 
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22. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS 

 

2015 
Total 

unrestricted 
funds 
£’000 

2014 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 
£’000 

Group fund balances at 31 December are represented by:   

Tangible assets 1,661 2,407 

Investments 17,048 16,409 

Net current liabilities (2,812) (3,020) 

Long term liabilities and provisions (689) (572) 

Defined pension scheme liability (2,775) (4,938) 

Total 12,433 10,286 

 

 

2015 
Total 

unrestricted 
funds 
£’000 

2014 
Total 

unrestricted 
finds 

£’000 

Charity fund balances at 31 December are represented by: 

Tangible assets 1,661 2,407 

Investments 17,183 16,537 

Net current liabilities (3,013) (3,221) 

Long term liabilities and provisions (689) (572) 

Defined pension scheme liability (2,775) (4,938) 

Total 12,367 10,213 

 

23. TRANSITION TO FRS 102  
The Group has adopted FRS 102 for the year ended 31 December 2015 and has restated the comparative figures. The date of transition to FRS 
102 was 1 January 2014. In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102 a reconciliation of opening balances and net income for the prior year 
is being provided as follows: 

Reconciliation of Group funds and balances 

31 December 
2014 
£’000 

1 January 
2014 
£’000 

Fund balances as previously stated 10,330 11,499 

Short term compensated absences (44) (52) 

Fund balances as restated 10,286 11,447 

 

Reconciliation of Charity funds and balances 

31 December 
2014 
£’000 

1 January 
2014 
£’000 

Fund balances as previously stated 10,257 11,462 

Short term compensated absences (44) (52) 

Fund balances as restated 10,213 11,410 
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Notes to the financial statements continued 

23. TRANSITION TO FRS 102 (CONTINUED) 
Restated statement of financial activities for the year ended 31 December 2014   £’000 

Net income before other recognised gains/(losses)  515 

Reversal of prior year short term compensated absences  52 

Current year short term compensated absences  (44) 

Less change in pension scheme finance costs   (269) 

Add net gains on investments  563 

Restated net income for the financial year  817 

 
Explanations of changes for FRS 102 adoption 
• Short term compensated absences: a liability has been recognised for short term compensated absence arising from employee entitlement  

to paid annual leave. 
• For the pension scheme, a single discount rate (usually equivalent to market yields on high quality corporate bonds) is now applied to the net 

plan assets and net plan liabilities and as such, this leads to higher pension scheme finance costs with the increase in the costs being offset 
by a corresponding decrease in the actuarial loss value. Previously, the discount rate only applied to the net plan liabilities and a higher rate 
would apply to the plan assets. 
The pension scheme finance cost is the net amount of interest which has accrued on the pension scheme deficit over the accounting period. 
It is calculated as the interest accrued on the pension scheme’s liabilities, less the interest income accrued on the pension scheme’s assets. 
At the end of the accounting period, the benefits due under the pension scheme (i.e. the pension scheme’s liabilities) are closer to being 
settled than they were at the beginning of the period. The impact of this is allowed for in the interest expense figure. It is calculated by 
multiplying the discount rate assumption at the beginning of the period by the pension scheme’s liabilities at the beginning of the period, 
making allowance for cash flows paid from the pension scheme and any other events that impact the value of the pension scheme’s liabilities. 
Similarly, the pension scheme’s assets are expected to grow over the accounting period. Under FRS 102, the pension scheme’s assets are 
expected to grow in line with the discount rate assumption at the beginning of the year (i.e. the same rate that is used to calculate the interest 
expense on the pension scheme’s liabilities). The impact of this is allowed for in the interest income figure. It is calculated by multiplying the 
discount rate at the beginning of the period by the pension scheme’s assets at the beginning of the period, making allowance for cash flows 
paid to and from the pension scheme and any other events that impact the value of the pension scheme’s assets. 
As the pension scheme was in deficit at the beginning of the period, the net amount of interest is negative. 

• Under FRS 102, investment gains/(losses) are treated as part of net income. 

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Other than the expenses reimbursed to Trustees as per note 8, Nicholas Craggs, one of the Trustees, charged the Charity £2,145 for work done 
on Level 4 assessments relating to the new accounting qualification to be launched in 2016. This was paid in full by the end of 2015. 

25. TAXATION 
AAT is a registered charity and is therefore exempt from tax on income and gains falling within Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or section 
256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that these are applied for charitable purposes within AAT's charitable objects. 
Taxation is only relevant to the subsidiary, Accounting Technicians (Services) Limited.  

26. STATUS 
The Association of Accounting Technicians is a company limited by guarantee (restricted to £1 per full member) and not having a share capital 
and is registered as a charity. 
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Other information

MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
Members of Council who held office during 2015  
as Directors and Trustees (all are members of AAT)

Allan Ramsay (President)

Mark McBride (Vice President)

Vernon Anderson 

Rachel Banfield (Chairman, Governance Panel)

Mark Barnish (Chairman, Audit and Assurance Board)

Susan Boseley (until 15/05/15)

Kevin Bragg (from 15/05/15)

Henry Cooper (until 15/05/15)

Sally Cox 

Nicholas Craggs 

Christina Earls 

Mike Evans ∆ 

Nicola Fisher* (Chairman, Members’ Services Board)

David Frederick 

Stefan Gatward (from 15/05/15)

Helen Geatches 

Kevin Gilmour 

Richard Harbord (until 15/05/15)

Linda Kumbemba 

June Moody 

Mark Nelson (from 15/05/15)

Jeremy Nottingham

Rita Patel 

Julia Penny (from 15/05/15)

David Quigg (from 15/05/15)

Paul Rowlands 

Julian Spencer 

Dee Statham (until 15/05/15)

Jayne Stephenson (from 15/05/15)

Louise Taylor (until 15/05/15)

Sue Taylor 

Wilma Teviotdale (until 15/05/15)

John Thornton (from 15/05/15)

Tracy Tipple 

Jane Towers* (Chairman, Resources Board)

Anne-Marie Townsend

Carole Turner

David Walker ∆

Reg Wood (Chairman, Learning and Development Board)

John Yeoman (Chairman, Regulation and Compliance Board)

Members of the Executive Team  
and Company Secretary

Chief Executive: Mark Farrar ∆ ◊ 

Director of Strategy and Professional Standards: Adam Harper

Director of Education and Development: Suzie Webb 

Director of Finance: Rob Williams ◊

Director of Marketing and Commercial: Andrew Williamson 

Chief Information Officer: Gary Burbidge 

Chief HR Officer: Olivia Hill 

Chief Customer Services Officer: Tracey Allison

Company Secretary: Karen Marshall

∆   Indicates Director of Accounting Technicians (Services) Limited, 
a subsidiary company

◊  Indicates Director of Association of Accounting Technicians (SA), 
a joint venture company

*  Indicates Director of Accounting Technician (Publications) Limited, 

a subsidiary company

HONOURS AND AWARDS
Honorary members 

1984  Michael G Lickiss 
BSc (Econ) FCA (Knighted 1993) MAAT

1986 Eric C Sayers CBE*

1986 Edmund Gibbs FCCA FCIS ATII*

1990 William Hyde MA FCMA FCCA JDipMA*

1990 Richard G Wilkes CBE TD FCA DL

1992 Fred P Langley MPhil FCCA

1996 John Hanson BA (Com) CPFA

2007 Robert Thomas MSc FCA FCCA FTII 

2014 Jane Scott Paul OBE

Past Presidents

1980-82  Michael G Lickiss  
BSc (Econ) FCA (Knighted 1993) MAAT

1982-83 Peter T Hobkinson FCCA CPFA MIMgt MAAT

1983-84 Peter R Dallow FCA MAAT*

1984-85  Professor Michael G Harvey  
MSc (Econ) FCCA FCIS FMAAT 

1985-86 Geoffrey J C Lockhart FCA FMAAT*

1986-87 Paul Treadaway CIPFA Hon MCIM FMAAT

1987-88 Stanley Husband FCMA MAAT*

1988-89 Kenneth A Sherwood FCA MAAT*

1989-90 Reg J Carter BA FCMA MAAT

1990-91 John N Farquhar DMS FMAAT

*  Since deceased
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HONOURS AND AWARDS (CONTINUED)
Past Presidents (continued)

1991-92 Malcolm S H Bell CA MAAT

1992-93 Noel Cannon FCCA MAAT

1993-94 Edna Jolly DMA CertEd FMAAT

1994-95 Geoff P Mason CPFA MBACP FMAAT

1995-96 Ken Sommerville CA MAAT

1996-97 John Newman MA FCA MAAT

1997-98 Noel Sladen FMAAT

1998-99 John Vincent FCA MCIArb FMAAT

1999-00 Margaret Rawding CPFA FMAAT

2000-01 Andrea White FCCA MAAT

2001-02  Professor David Hunt  
MSc FCA FIPD FRSA FMAAT

2002-03 Mike Dudding CPFA MAAT

2003-04 Jan Bell CertEd FMAAT

2004-05 Jess Bond BSc (Econ) FMAAT

2005-06  Trevor Salmon  
OBE BSc (Hons) FCCA CPFA MAAT

2006-07 Brian Palmer ATT FMAAT

2007-08 Tim Light FMAAT 

2008-09 Catherine Chamberlain AFA FMAAT

2009-10  Pam Dyson  
MA FCCA CPFA FCMI CMgr MIHM FMAAT

2010-11 Neil Price BSc CA CertPFS MAAT

2011-12 Dr Hilary Lindsay MSc MBA FCA FMAAT

2012-13 Henry Cooper FMAAT

2013-14 Mike Evans CPFA FMAAT

2014-15 Dr Rachel Banfield MA CPFA PGCHE FHEA FMAAT

Past Secretaries^/Chief Executives

1981-87 Anthony B Sainsbury VRD JP MA^*

1987-96 John Hanson BA (Com) CPFA^

1997-14 Jane Scott Paul OBE

* since deceased

Past Presidents’ Award winners 

The Award recognises a full member who has enhanced the 
reputation of AAT by individual effort and service. 

1994 Simon Payne MAAT

1995 Ruth Bryant MAAT

1996 Hannah Tonge FMAAT

1997 Pako Kedisitse MAAT

1998 Keith Knight FMAAT

Past Presidents’ Award winners (continued) 

1999 Malcolm Springall FMAAT 

 Suzanne Willard MAAT

2000 Pamela Dyson FMAAT 

2001 Ishphak Parkar FMAAT

2002 Sue Pryce-Williams FMAAT

2003 Michael Steed MAAT

2004 Alfred Boddison FMAAT

2005 Sheryl Miller MAAT 

2006 Marie Walker MAAT

2007 David Kalaba FMAAT 

2008 Paul Buzzard MAAT

2009 Lesley Sureshkumar FMAAT

2010 Jane Towers FMAAT

2011 Jennifer Frost MAAT

2012 Duncan Majinda MAAT

2013 Neil Montgomery FMAAT

2014 Martyn Strickett FMAAT

CPD prize winners 

The CPD prize recognises full members who show an 
outstanding approach and commitment to their continuing 
professional development.

2002 Susan Francis MAAT

2003 Maxine McCulloch FMAAT

2004 Stuart McBain MAAT

2005 Edit Gardner MAAT

2006 Lindsay Watkins FMAAT 

2007 Diane Ackroyd FMAAT 

 Kim Cragg MAAT 

2008 Mayuri Lakhani MAAT

2009 James Thomson FMAAT

 Sally-Ann Delf MAAT

2010 Diana Cornford FMAAT

 Melanie Philpott MAAT

2011 Glenn Gosden MAAT

2013 Sarah Knight MAAT

2014 Georgia Moss MAAT

2015 Miranda Thewlis MAAT

No award was presented for 2012 due to a change 
in the selection process.
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